B RI K O R L IM IT E D

Annual report

20 1 1

Contents
Contents

Brikor Limited
Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa
Registration number: 1998/013247/06
JSE code: BIK
ISIN: ZAE000101945

Page
Profile
Chairman’s and CEO’s report

1
2

ACCOUNTABILITY
Directorate
Corporate governance
Summary of remuneration policy
Sustainability
Integrated report

6
8
17
18
22

GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Statement of responsibility and
approval by the directors
Declaration by Company Secretary
Report of the independent auditors
Directors’ report
Report of the Audit Committee
Consolidated statement of financial position
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Consolidated statement of changes in equity
Consolidated statement of cash flows
Notes to the annual financial statements
Analysis of shareholding

28
28
29
31
35
36
37
38
39
40
81

INVESTOR RELATIONS
Shareholders’ diary
Notice of annual general meeting
Form of proxy
Corporate information

82
83
Attached
ibc

1

Profile
Profile

Brikor Limited (“Brikor” or “the Company” or “the Group”) is listed on the
Alternative Exchange (“Altx”) of the JSE Limited.
Brikor is a manufacturer and supplier of clay bricks, roof tiles, clay pipes and
pavers as well as ancillary products and a producer of coal.
Current market prices, high production costs and high logistics costs necessitated a
relook at the current Brikor business model. This resulted in the mothballing of
some currently non-profitable operations, namely Bronkhortspruit, Vereeniging
and Olifantsfontein, as well as cost optimisation throughout the Group. Certain
businesses have also been identified to be sold.
A sale agreement has been entered into with interested parties, subject to certain
suspensive conditions, for the sale of Stanger Brick & Tile in KwaZulu-Natal.
Brikor’s core operations are now situated at its Nigel plants.
Brikor will continue to supply the commercial, residential and infrastructural
markets and will increase its exposure in the low-cost and affordable housing
market. In October 2010 the Company acquired the rights to a mining license
for the beneficiation of coal and, during the year ahead, the potential of the coal
operations will be explored and optimised to strengthen its contribution to the
Group’s profitability.
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Chairman’s and CEO’s report

G v N Parkin
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The corrective measures taken to reduce costs and

right-size the Group, combined with an aggressive sales
drive, a renewed focus on the Group’s core business

activities and the coal operations, position the Group well
to benefit from a gradual improvement in market
conditions.
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Chairman’s and CEO’s report
continued

OVERVIEW
The directors of Brikor present the audited Group annual
report for the year ended 28 February 2011 (“the financial
year”).
Brikor is a manufacturer and supplier of materials to the
building and construction industries, across a broad
spectrum of the market from low-cost housing, residential

aligns its operational cost structures with lower production
volumes while maintaining its reputation for service delivery
excellence and expanding its focus on the low-cost housing
sector.

FINANCIAL RESULTS
The Group’s revenue decreased marginally by 2,4% to
R273,6 million (2010: R280,3 million), mainly as a result of

and commercial to construction projects.

lower demand. Gross profit decreased by 26,4% to R28,4

Adverse trading conditions continued in the building and

million (2010: R38,6 million).

construction sectors with a continued decline in residential

Gross margins at 10,4% (2010: 13,8%) remained under

and commercial building activities and very competitive

pressure due to lower margin products in the sales mix

pricing. Financial institutions maintained their rigid

combined with a lower growth in demand, exacerbated by

approach to lending, contributing further to the subdued

continued increased input costs, such as energy, fuel, gas

activity in the residential market. The unrecorded additions

and raw materials. The Company was unable to pass these

and alterations market, which maintained levels of activity

increased input costs fully on to its customers as a result of

during the economic slowdown, also showed a decrease.

continued price pressure and competition for volume.

The Group’s results for the financial year continued to be

Tight controls resulted in operating expenses being

impacted by depressed market conditions, in particular the

maintained at R54,1 million (2010: R53,7 million) showing

delays and cancellations in building and construction

a slight increase of 1%. The reduction in the Group’s gross

projects, most notably, the awarding of tenders by

profit and increase in finance costs resulted in a basic loss

metropolitan municipalities. Some local governments’

per share of 34,9 cents for the year (loss per share 2010:

capital expenditure budgets seemed to have been reduced

19,9 cents) and a headline loss per share of 6,6 cents

to cover only current expenditure as their income from rates

(headline loss per share 2010: 5,5 cents).

and taxes declined due to the recession, thereby resulting in

Property, plant and equipment reduced to R208 million

the delay of new projects.

(2010: R410 million) mainly attributable to the depreciation

The very competitive trading environment, underpinned by
reduced demand, increased pressure on margins with the
resultant effect on the Group’s trading results and liquidity
during the financial year under review. Brikor’s priority
remains cash generation, working capital management and
realising the value in inventory and receivables.

charge, impairments and the sale of certain land and
buildings. The expectation of the future economic viability of
certain plants deteriorated to such an extent that they had to
be impaired to their recoverable amounts. Therefore, an
amount of R175,7 million was impaired. Management’s
calculations of recoverable amounts were lower than the
carrying amounts for Stanger Brick & Tile and therefore

Key management focus areas remain sales growth, margin

management believed it prudent to provide for an

management, productivity improvement and cash and

impairment of R10,8 million on the goodwill of the division.

working capital management. Corrective measures have

The impairment on intangible assets was R10,1 million.

been taken to reduce costs and right-size the Group.

Capital expenditure amounted to R4,6 million and related to

Rigorous cost controls remain a key point of focus as Brikor

the maintenance of production capacities.
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Chairman’s and CEO’s report
continued

Brikor is presently in breach of covenants as set out by Rand Merchant Bank (“RMB”) regarding the RMB loan. The current
carrying value of the loan is R125 million. The full amount of the loan is reflected as part of current liabilities as a result of the
breach of covenants.
As discussed under events after the reporting date in the Directors’ Report on pages 33 and 34, Brikor is currently negotiating
the sale of certain assets to correct the situation. Negotiations are taking place with RMB to discuss ways and means of
remedying the breach of covenants.

DIVIDEND POLICY
After taking cognisance of the current financial position of the Group, no dividend has been proposed or declared.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Group subscribes to the principles of openness, integrity and
accountability and to the provision of correct, relevant and meaningful
reporting to all stakeholders.
Mrs E Chimombe-Munyoro resigned as non-executive director from the Board
with effect from 15 March 2011. Mr E Grobbelaar resigned as non-executive
director from the Board with effect from 18 March 2011. The Board of Brikor
would like to thank them for their efforts and wish them well in their future
endeavours.
The issues, which were experienced between Brikor’s executive management
and Vunani, have been resolved and the addressing of the issues has
resulted in a strengthened relationship between the parties with Vunani
rendering a positive contribution to Brikor’s turnaround strategies and on the
implementation of the restructuring of the business.
Messrs R van Rooyen and JH Wood were appointed as independent non-executive directors to the Brikor Board of Directors
with effect from 21 January 2011, with Mr NM Anderson and Ms RJ Magoele joining the Board on 18 March 2011. The Board
would like to welcome these new directors and looks forward to a long and valued working relationship.
In terms of Brikor’s commitment to corporate governance and as a result of the above appointments to the Board, the Board has
decided to re-constitute its sub-committees, the details of which appear on page 23.

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO SHARE TRUST DEED
The provisions of Schedule 14 of the JSE Listings Requirements were materially revised in October 2008. Companies are
required to make the appropriate amendments to their existing schemes by no later than 1 January 2011. The necessary
resolutions to effect the amendments were approved by the JSE.
The necessary resolutions to effect the amendments are included in the 2011 notice of annual general meeting for approval by
shareholders.
Copies of the current share trust deed, as well as the new share trust deed incorporating the proposed amendments, will be
available for inspection by shareholders during normal business hours at the Company’s head office for a period of 14 days
prior to the annual general meeting.
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Chairman’s and CEO’s report
continued

PROSPECTS
The pace of South Africa’s economic recovery, in particular in the building and construction sectors, remains uncertain and it
is anticipated that further restrictive and volatile trading conditions will prevail in the short- to medium-term.
The Board is, however, confident that the residential sector will benefit from increased levels of private credit facilities extended
by banks and low interest rates with the subsequent flow through to demand for Brikor’s product ranges. Energy and mining
expansion are also expected to create further demand from consequential housing activity. Government is also experiencing
increased pressure to deliver on infrastructure and housing requirements.
South Africa is one of the world’s leading producers of coal and relies almost exclusively on coal to fire up its power stations.
This makes the mining and transportation of coal two of the country’s most important economic sectors. Applications for
mining rights at Brikor’s coal operations were lodged and the Company acquired the rights to a mining license for the
beneficiation of coal on Portion 27 Varkensfontein in October 2010.
The corrective measures taken to reduce costs and right-size the Group, combined with an aggressive sales drive, a renewed
focus on the Group’s core business activities and the coal operations, position the Group well to benefit from a gradual
improvement in market conditions.

THE RESTRUCTURING PROGRAMME
Brikor appointed a Chief Restructuring Officer (“CRO”) on 26 June 2011 to facilitate the restructuring process and to assist the
Board and management to successfully implement and execute this critically important initiative of the Company. For further
particulars, please refer to the Integrated Report on pages 24 and 25.

APPRECIATION
The Board wishes to extend its appreciation to the Company’s major strategic shareholder, Vunani, for its unwavering support
during trying times and for their invaluable contribution to facilitate the restructuring programme.
Given the severity of trading conditions in the recessionary environment, which continued to be negatively impacted by the
economic slowdown, I express my sincere gratitude to our management and staff for their commitment and dedication during
yet another difficult year. Thank you to our customers, suppliers, advisors and shareholders for their support of the Group. Our
quality relationships helped sustain the Group during this challenging time. To my fellow directors, my appreciation for your
wise counsel and insight.

G v N Parkin
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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Directorate

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Garnett van Niekerk
PARKIN (50)

Werner KRüGER

Chief Operating Officer

Financial Director

Chief Executive Officer

BSc (Geology), BCom (Hons)

Date appointed: 1 May 2005

Date appointed: 11 July 1998

Date appointed: 20 November 2009

Garnett has more than thirty years’
experience in the brick-making
industry and obtained qualifications
in Heavy Clay Engineering Works
and Ceramic Technology. The
family business, which originated at
the Marievale Brickworks, was
transformed in 2001, when the
brick manufacturing and sales
operations were consolidated into
Brikor and which listed on the Altx
on 7 August 2007. Garnett resigned
as Chairman of the Brikor Board on
the appointment of Mr R van Rooyen
as Chairman on 25 May 2011.

(50)

Werner has in excess of sixteen years’
experience in quarry management,
cement manufacturing, concrete
infrastructural products and clay
brick manufacturing and was until
recently employed as the Managing
Director of Oconbrick Manufacturing
(Pty) Limited.

Hanleu BOTHA

(52)

Hanleu has more than thirty years’
experience in all aspects of financial
management and accounting and has
held various senior positions in
private and public companies. She
studied Development Administration
at RAU (now UJ) and completed
Financial Management and various
other development courses. Hanleu
joined Brikor in 1999 as Financial
Manager and has been instrumental
in the implementation of accounting
software, IT systems, structures,
administrative policies and procedures.
She established herself as a leader
and, with her in-depth knowledge of
the industry and all levels of
operations in the Group, assisted
significantly in Brikor’s growth.
Hanleu became Financial Director
in 2005.

Garnett PARKIN

(28)

Alternate Director to the
Chief Executive Officer
Leadership Development and Junior
Management Certificate (University of
Stellenbosch)
Date appointed: 20 February 2007
Garnett matriculated in 2001 with
the Cambridge University syllabus
and simultaneously obtained an
Entrepreneurship Certificate from
Potchefstroom University with Financial
Management and Business Management
as main subjects. Thereafter he went
to the International Hotel School
where he completed Tourism and Front
Office Management (accredited by
the American Hotel & Lodging
Association). In 2003 he started his
working career at Brikor, enrolled at
Unisa and completed Business
Management, Public Administration,
English
Communications
and
Economics. In 2005 he contributed to
the successful establishment of the
procurement department. In 2006,
after completing the Leadership
Development and Junior Management
Certificate at the University of
Stellenbosch’s
Business
School,
he was appointed Administration
Manager. Today Garnett successfully
manages the debtors and creditors
portfolios throughout Brikor and
attends to cash flow and capital
expenditure management as well as
procurement across all the divisional
businesses.
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Directorate
continued

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Rynhardt
VAN ROOYEN

(62)

Neil Mark
ANDERSON

(51)

Ramasela Joyce
MAGOELE (36)

James Henry WOOD

(73)

Independent Non-Executive Director

Independent Non-Executive
Chairman

Non-Executive Director

Independent Non-Executive Director

CA(SA)

CA(SA)

LIOB and HNC (UK), Management
Development Programme (Harvard)

BCompt (Hons), CA(SA)

Date appointed: 18 March 2011

Date appointed: 18 March 2011

Date appointed: 21 January 2011

Date appointed: 21 January 2011

Mark qualified as a chartered
accountant in 1987 and has
worked in various capacities in the
financial services sector. He joined
African Harvest in 1997 and was
involved in the management buyout
that led to the formation of Vunani
in 2004. Mark has been a director
of Vunani Limited since 2004.

Ramasela a chartered accountant,
completed her articles at Deloitte
& Touche in 2001, then joined
Telkom as Senior Financial Manager
and played a significant role in the
Initial Public Offering of Telkom.
She then joined Gensec Property
Services Limited as Chief Financial
Officer and Company Secretary and
was instrumental in the conclusion
of the merger between Gensec
Property Services Limited and JHI.
Currently Ramasela is the Chief
Financial Officer of the National
Nuclear Regulator.

Jim obtained LIOB and HNC
certification in construction in the
UK, majoring in Quantity Surveying
and Estimating and endorsed with
Structural Engineering. He has also
completed the Programme for
Management
Development
at
Harvard University and is currently a
member of the South African Institute
of Builders. He was Managing
Director and later Chairman of
the Steeledale Group and became
Chairman of LTA Process Engineering.
He also assisted Murray & Roberts
with some industrial operations and
performed the role of Managing
Director and Chairman on the
boards of various companies in the
Murray & Roberts Group. Jim also
represented Murray & Roberts in the
Gautrain negotiations in respect of the
Bombela operational aspects and was
Chairman of Bombela Operations
prior to retirement.

Rynhardt retired in November 2008
after thirty-two years’ service at
Sasol. At retirement he was a
member of the Sasol Group
Executive Committee, a director of
most of the major Sasol subsidiaries
and a member of their Audit
Committees. He was also a trustee of
the Sasol Pension Fund, and a
member of the Sasol Pension Fund
Audit and Investment Committees.
He is currently a director and
member of the Audit Committees of
Reunert Limited and Alert Steel
Holdings Limited. He is also a trustee
of the Sasol Pension Fund and a
member of the Sasol Pension Fund
Audit and Investment Committees.
Rynhardt was appointed Chairman
of the Brikor Board on 25 May
2011.
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Corporate
governance
Corporate governance

The directors endorse, and accept full responsibility for, the application of the
principles necessary to ensure that effective corporate governance is practised
consistently throughout the Group. Brikor is committed to the principles of
openness to all stakeholders, integrity and accountability and the Board accepts
their duty to ensure that the principles as set out in the King Report of Corporate
Governance for South Africa – 2009 (King III) are implemented on an apply or
explain basis.
A summary of the current compliance is as follows:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board of Directors sets the Group’s overall policy and provides guidance and
input in areas relating to strategic direction, planning, acquisitions, performance
measurement, resource allocation, key appointments, standards of conduct and
communication with shareholders.
Generally, directors have been and will be nominated based on their calibre,
credibility, knowledge, experience and time and attention they can devote to the
role. Before nomination, appropriate background checks are performed on
proposed new directors. New appointments to the Board are submitted to the
Board for approval prior to appointment. All appointments are formal and
transparent and a matter for the Board as a whole. New directors are provided
with all the necessary background information to familiarise them with issues
affecting the Group. Brikor does not currently have a Nominations Committee
and this matter will be addressed in the year ahead.
The Board’s independence from the team responsible for the daily management
of Brikor is maintained by:
•

functioning Board Committees comprised mainly of non-executive directors;

•

non-executive directors not holding fixed term contracts;

•

directors, with prior permission of the Board, being entitled to seek
independent professional advice regarding the affairs of Brikor at the
Group’s expense;

9

Corporate governance
continued

•

directors having access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary; and

•

the appointment or dismissal of the Company Secretary being decided by the Board as a whole and not by one individual
director.

In compliance with King III’s recommendation that the Company Secretary should have an arm’s length relationship with the
Board, Mrs H Botha resigned as Company Secretary and CIS Company Secretaries (Pty) Limited was appointed as Company
Secretary of Brikor on 18 March 2011.
The Board comprises three independent non-executive directors, one non-executive director, three executive directors and one
alternate executive director. The non-executive directors are fully independent of management and free to make their own
decisions and independent judgements. The non-executive directors enjoy no benefits from the Group for their services as
directors, other than their fees. At each annual general meeting one-third of the non-executive directors, or if their number is
not a multiple of three then the number nearest thereto, shall retire from office. The appointment of the directors is subject by
rotation, to retirement and re-election by shareholders, in accordance with Brikor’s Memorandum of Incorporation. A brief CV
of each director standing for election or re-election at the annual general meeting is included in the annual report on page 7.
The Board retains full and effective control over the Group. The Board meets at least four times a year with additional meetings
called, if necessary or desirable. Information relevant to a meeting is supplied on a timely basis to the Board ensuring directors
can make informed decisions. The Board is also responsible for monitoring the activities of the executive management.
The Board gives strategic direction to the Group, appoints the chief executive officer and chief financial officers and ensures
that succession is planned. The non-executive directors take responsibility for ensuring that the chair encourages proper
deliberation of all matters requiring the Board’s attention. The Board ensures that there is an appropriate balance of power and
authority on the Board so that no one director has unfettered power of decision-making or any block of individuals can
dominate the Board’s decision-making process.
After the reporting period, the roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer were split, with Mr G v N Parkin resigning
as Chairman and Mr R van Rooyen being appointed as Independent Non-Executive Chairman on 25 May 2011.
The number of meetings attended by each of the directors of the Company during the period 1 March 2010 to 28 February
2011 is as follows:

G v N Parkin
H Botha
E Chimombe-Munyoro (resigned 15 March 2011)
E Grobbelaar (resigned 18 March 2011)
W Krüger
G Parkin

2 Mar

16 Aug

27 Sept

25 Oct

26 Nov

21 Jan

2010

2010

2010

2010

2010

2011

√

√

√

√

√

√

√
√
√
√
√

√
√
√
√
√

√
√
√
√
√

√
√
√
√
√

√
√
√
√
√

√
√
√
√
√

In terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, a representative of the Company’s Designated Adviser attends all Board meetings.
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Corporate governance
continued

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

•

determining the fees to be paid to the external auditor;

Directors are required to inform the Board timeously of
conflicts or potential conflicts of interest they may have in

assessing the scope and results of the external audit and

•

appraising the nature and extent of non-audit services,

relation to particular items of business. Directors are obliged

seeking to balance the maintenance of objectivity and

to recuse themselves from discussions or decisions on

value for money;

matters in which they have a conflicting interest. Directors
are required to disclose their shareholding in the Company

•

pre-approving any proposed contract with the auditor

and all other directorships quarterly or as changes occur.

for the provision of non-audit services to the Group in

Declarations of all other interests are tabled at each Board

terms of set policies and procedures;

meeting.

•

with the Companies Act, 2008, and any other

BOARD COMMITTEES
Specific responsibilities have been formally delegated to
Board Committees with defined terms of reference, lifespan

ensuring that the appointment of the auditor complies
legislation relating to the appointment of auditors;

•

addressing appropriately any complaints (internal or

and function, clearly agreed upon reporting procedures and

external) relating either to the accounting practices and

written scope of authority. There is transparency and full

internal audit of the Group or to the content or auditing

disclosure from the Board Committees to the Board, except

of its financial statements, or to any related matter;

where mandated otherwise by the Board. Board Committees
are free to take independent outside professional advice as

•

internal control system;

and when necessary and are subject to regular evaluation
by the Board to ascertain their performance and

•

effectiveness.

examining the reliability and accuracy of the financial
information provided to management and other users of
financial information;

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee has clearly defined terms of reference

reviewing and reporting on the functioning of the

•

assuring

the

Group’s

compliance

with

legal

outlined in the Audit Charter which was approved by the

and regulatory provisions, its Memorandum of

Board of Directors of Brikor. The Audit Charter is available

Incorporation, code of conduct, by-laws and rules

for inspection at the registered office of the Company.

established by the Board.

Purpose

In addition to the above duties, the Audit Committee reviews:

The Audit Committee meets with the financial director and

•

integrated reports;

other members of senior management (when and if

•

interim reports;

required), as well as the external auditors, to discuss issues

•

provisional financial results;

•

dividend declarations; and

•

any information which is price sensitive.

of accounting, auditing, internal controls, financial reporting
and corporate governance. The external auditors have
unrestricted access to the Audit Committee and its
chairman with a view to ensuring that their independence is

The Audit Committee reviews the interim and annual

not impaired.

financial statements and the appropriateness of the

The duties of the Audit Committee include:

accounting policies adopted by the Group. The Audit

•

establishing the independence and objectivity of the
external auditors and appointing them;

•

assessing the relevance, impact and resolution of

Committee deals adequately with its membership, authority
and duties.
The Board confirmed that it is satisfied that the Audit

accounting or auditing issues identified by external

Committee has during the review year performed the duties

auditors;

mandated to it by the Board.
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Corporate governance
continued

Membership
A sub-committee of the Board of Directors has been appointed to fulfil the responsibilities of the Audit Committee. The Chairman
of this Committee is appointed from the Board and is not the Chairman of the Board of Directors. All the
members are financially literate and no relationships exist that could interfere with the Audit Committee members’
independence from management. The external auditors have unrestricted access to the Audit Committee. The Committee meets
at least twice a year.
During the year under review, the Audit Committee comprised E Grobbelaar (Committee chairman – independent non-executive
director) and E Chimombe-Munyoro (non-executive director). As required in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, a
representative of the Designated Adviser attends all Audit Committee meetings. The Financial Director and other
members of the management (when required) attend Audit Committee meetings by invitation.
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, Mr E Grobbelaar and Ms E Chimombe-Munyoro resigned
as members of the Board as well as members of the Audit Committee.
Mr NM Anderson (non-executive director) and Ms RJ Magoele, Mr R van Rooyen and Mr JH Wood, all of whom are
independent non-executive directors, were appointed members of the Audit Committee with Ms Magoele accepting the chair.
These members have the required skills and expertise and shareholder approval of the appointment of these members of the
Audit Committee will be sought at the annual general meeting to be held on Wednesday, 26 October 2011.
The term of the Committee is one year and its composition and membership are reviewed annually by the Board.
The number of Audit Committee meetings attended by each of the members of the Audit Committee during the
period 1 March 2010 to 28 February 2011 is as follows:
10 Jun
2010
E Chimombe-Munyoro (resigned 15 March 2011)
E Grobbelaar (resigned 18 March 2011)

√
√

24 Aug
2010

√
√

26 Nov
2010

√
√

In terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, a representative of the Company’s Designated Adviser attends all Audit Committee
meetings. Executive directors and management attend the Audit Committee meetings by invitation.
Internal audit
To meet its responsibility with respect to providing reliable financial information, the Group maintains financial and operational
systems of internal control. These controls are designed to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are concluded in
accordance with management’s authority, that the assets are adequately protected against material loss or unauthorised
acquisition, use or disposition, and that transactions are properly authorised and recorded.
The systems include documented organisational structures and division of responsibility, established policies and procedures that
are communicated throughout the Company, and careful selection, training and development of people.
The Group’s internal auditors monitor the operation of the internal control systems and report their findings and
recommendations to management and the Audit Committee, who then report to the Board of Directors. Corrective actions are
taken to address control deficiencies and other opportunities for improving the systems as they are identified.
External audit
In terms of the Companies Act, the Committee nominated RSM Betty & Dickson (Tshwane) as the independent auditor and
P den Boer, a registered independent auditor, as the designated partner, for appointment for the 2011 audit. This appointment
was approved by shareholders at the annual general meeting on 29 October 2010. The Committee has satisfied itself through
enquiry of the independence of the auditor as required by the Companies Act and as per the standards
stipulated by the auditing profession.
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Corporate governance
continued

The required assurance was sought and provided by the

risk involve segregation of duties, transaction authorisation,

auditor that the internal governance processes within the

supervision, monitoring and financial and managerial

audit firm support and demonstrate the claim to

reporting.

independence.

This philosophy is founded on the identification of risk. The

The Committee, in consultation with the Chief Executive

introduction of the necessary control measures to reduce the

Officer, agreed to the engagement letter, terms, nature and

risks identified at the lowest level possible and the

scope of the audit function and the audit plan for the 2011

procurement of insurance for those events severe in nature,

financial year. The budgeted fee is considered appropriate

although infrequent in occurrence and which are usually

for the work that could reasonably have been foreseen at

beyond the control of management.

that time.
Non-audit services rendered by the auditor are governed by
a formal procedure and each engagement letter for such

The Risk Committee will, through policies, procedures and
reports, manage the following risk areas:
•

Financial;

Committee.

•

Interest rate fluctuations;

The external auditors have unrestricted access to the

•

Profit/loss of income;

chairman of the Audit Committee and no matters of concern

•

Human resources;

were raised during the review year.

•

Asset protection;

The Audit Committee has carried out and has met

•

Operational;

periodically to consider and to act upon its statutory duties

•

Natural disasters; and

•

Safety, Health, Environment and Quality.

services, where material, is reviewed and approved by the

and functions and confirms that it has satisfied itself of the
independence of the Group’s auditors.
RISK COMMITTEE

The Risk Committee will be responsible for assessing risks
and controls, business continuity and data recovery relating

A separate Risk Committee was established on 25 May

to IT and information security privacy as well as analysing

2011. The duties of this Committee were previously

risk areas of the Group’s operations, taking cognisance of

performed by the Audit and Risk Committee. The Risk

legal, operational and financial factors.

Committee comprises NM Anderson (Chairman), H Botha,
W Krüger, RJ Magoele, G v N Parkin, R van Rooyen and
JH Wood.
The primary objective of the Risk Committee is to minimise

Formal terms of reference are currently being developed for
the Risk Committee.
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

business risk by safeguarding the assets and income

A Remuneration Committee was established after the end of

earning capacity of the Group.

the reporting period on 18 March 2011 with its members

Effective risk management is integral to the Group’s
objective of consistently adding value to the business.
Management is continuously developing and enhancing the
risk and control procedures to improve the mechanisms for

being Mr JH Wood (Chairman) and Ms RJ Magoele
(member), both of whom are independent non-executive
directors and have sufficient qualifications and experience
to fulfil their duties.

identifying and monitoring risks. Operating risk is the

The chief executive officer, financial director, head of human

potential for loss to occur through a breakdown in control

resources or other members of senior management, as may

information, business processes and compliance systems.

be required, assurance providers, professional advisors and

Key policies and procedures in place to manage operating

Board members attend the meetings by invitation only.
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•

in the fulfilment of its duties, call upon the chairmen of
the other Board Committees, any of the executive
directors, officers or Company Secretary to provide it
with information, subject to following a Board approved
process;

•

have reasonable access to the Company’s records,
facilities and any other resources necessary to discharge
its duties and responsibilities;

•

form, and delegate authority to, sub-committees and
may delegate authority to one or more designated
members of the Committee;

•
The Committee meets at least twice per annum and its role
is to assist the Board in ensuring that the Company
remunerates directors fairly and responsibly and that the
disclosure of directors’ remuneration is accurate and
transparent.
The Group’s strategy is to ensure that remuneration matches
individual contribution to Group performance, within the
framework of market forces, while protecting shareholders’
interests and the Group’s financial health.
The Remuneration Committee must perform all the functions
necessary to fulfil its role which includes:
•

•

•

overseeing the establishment and implementation of
remuneration policies in relation to non-executive
directors, executive directors and other executives’
remuneration;

obtain independent outside professional advice to assist
with the execution of its duties, at the Company’s cost,
subject to following a Board approved process; and

•

make recommendations to the Board that it deems
appropriate on any area within the ambit of its terms of
reference where action or improvement is required.

The Board will perform an evaluation of the effectiveness of
the Committee every year.
Details of the directors’ aggregate emoluments on an
individual basis are set out on page 73 of the annual report.
Brikor’s remuneration policy is summarised on page 17 of
the annual report.
ETHICS AND SUSTAINABILITY COMMITTEE
An Ethics and Sustainability Committee was established

assessing the outcomes of the implementation of these
policies for whether these policies promote the
achievement of strategic objectives and encourage
individual performance; and

on 18 March 2011 under the chairmanship of Mr W Krüger

reviewing the remuneration disclosure to ensure that it is
accurate and transparent and provides sufficient
forward-looking information to enable shareholders to
assess the remuneration policy and for passing a special
resolution in terms of section 66(9) of the Companies
Act, 71 of 2008.

being developed for this Committee.

with the operations managers as its members. The Ethics
and Sustainability Committee will submit written reports on
its activities to the Board. Terms of reference are currently

RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board is responsible for the total process of risk
management, as well as forming its own opinion on the
effectiveness of the process, and sets the risk strategy, which

The Committee is authorised by the Board to:

is based on the need to identify, assess, manage and

•

monitor all known forms of risk across the Group, in liaison

investigate any activity within the scope of its terms of
reference;

with the executive directors and senior management.
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These policies are clearly communicated to all employees to
ensure that the risk strategy is incorporated into the
language and culture of the Group. The Board decides the
Group’s appetite or tolerance for risk and has the
responsibility to ensure that the Group has implemented an

AUDITING
The Board is of the opinion that the auditors observe
adequate levels of business and professional ethics and that
their independence is not in any way impaired. The auditors

effective ongoing process to identify risk, to measure its

have the right of access to all information or personnel

impact against a broad set of assumptions and then to

within the Group on any matter necessary to fulfil their

activate what is necessary to proactively manage these risks.

duties. The external auditors attend Audit Committee

Risk management and internal control are practised

meetings by invitation.

throughout the Group and are embedded in day-to-day
activities.
Risk is not only viewed from a negative perspective. The
review process also identifies areas of opportunity, such as
where effective risk management can be turned to
competitive advantage.

INTERNAL CONTROL
The Group maintains systems of internal control, which
includes financial, operational and compliance controls.
These controls are established to provide reasonable
assurance of the effective and efficient operation of the
Group and its compliance with all relevant laws and

Pure risks are identified and risk awareness is promoted at

regulations, as well as to the reliability of the annual

all business units.

financial reporting and to adequately safeguard, verify and

Formal risk assessments are taken at least annually.
The Risk Committee is responsible to assist the Board in
reviewing the risk management process.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
GOING CONCERN

maintain accountability for assets. The controls are reviewed
and monitored regularly throughout the Group by
management and employees collectively.
The Board of Directors is accountable for establishing
appropriate risk and control policies and is responsible for
monitoring, reviewing and communicating these controls
and policies through the organisation. Corrective actions are

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of

taken to address control deficiencies and other opportunities

accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This

for improving the systems, as they are identified. The Board,

basis presumes that the necessary funds will be available to

operating through its Audit Committee, provides oversight of

finance future operations and that the realisation of the sale

the financial reporting process.

of assets, settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and
commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.
The ability of the Group to continue as a going concern is
dependent on several factors, including the successful
implementation of the Group restructuring programme,
return to profitable operations, the sale of certain assets and
the continued support of the Group’s financiers and

All processes have been in place for the year under review
and up to the date of the approval of the annual financial
statements and nothing has come to the attention of the
directors to indicate that any material breakdown in the
functioning of the internal financial controls has occurred
during the year under review.

creditors.

INSURANCE

The Board minutes the facts and assumptions used in the

The Group insures against losses arising from catastrophic

assessment of the going concern status of the Group at the

events, which include fire, flood, explosion, earthquake and

financial year-end.

machinery breakdown, as well as business interruption

For further information on the going concern statement,

from these events. The Group renews its insurance policies

please refer to the Directors’ Report on page 33.

annually in November.
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SHARE TRADING
Brikor has a formal policy, established by the Board and implemented by the Company Secretary, prohibiting dealing in
securities by directors, officers and employees from the end of the respective reporting period to the date of the announcement
of the financial results or in any other period considered sensitive.

BRIKOR SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME
Participants in the Brikor Share Incentive Scheme (“the Scheme”) are offered rights to purchase shares at market-related prices.
The following option is available to executive directors and eligible employees who were employed on or before
21 August 2007.
A share purchase scheme, where offers to purchase shares are granted at a price as determined by
the trustees
Offers granted will remain in force for a period of four years after the offers are granted. Shares are only released upon receipt
of full payment for options exercised. If the employee ceases to be an employee for whatsoever reason, the Scheme shall be
entitled to cancel all offers not exercised.
Vesting periods for all incentive shares above are determined as follows:
•

one year after the acceptance date, in respect of 20% of the scheme shares;

•

two years after the acceptance date, in respect of 25% of the scheme shares;

•

three years after the acceptance date, in respect of 25% of the scheme shares; and

•

four years after the acceptance date, in respect of 30% of the scheme shares.

Shares and offers may not be encumbered, transferred or sold in any way before it has been released.
The Board, in terms of the Scheme approved by the shareholders, makes recommendations for the award of share rights to
directors and selected employees to increase proprietary interest of employees in the success of the Group, to encourage
employees to promote the interest and the continued growth of the Group and to encourage employees to continue to render
their best service to the Group. A vesting period is therefore applied for the taking up of share rights to encourage a long-term
view of Group performance.
Shareholder approval will be sought at the annual general meeting to be held on Wednesday, 26 October 2011 for the
amendment of the Scheme in compliance with schedule 14 of the JSE Listings Requirements.

IT GOVERNANCE
The Group’s IT governance focuses on four key areas:
•

strategic alignment with the business and collaborative solutions

•

value delivery: concentrating on optimising expenditure and proving the value of IT;

•

risk management: addressing the safeguarding of IT assets, disaster recovery and continuity of operations;

•

resource management: optimising knowledge and IT infrastructure.
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COMMUNICATION
The Group has a policy of open and transparent
communication with its shareholders and other stakeholders
and will meet regularly with institutional shareholders,
investment analysts and other stakeholders, taking due
regard of statutory, regulatory and other directives
regulating the dissemination of information by companies
and their directors.
The Board accepts its duty to present a balanced and
understandable assessment of the Group’s position in
reporting to stakeholders, taking into account the
circumstances of the communities in which it operates and
the greater demands for transparency and accountability
regarding non-financial matters. Reporting addresses
material matters of significant interest and concern to all
stakeholders and presents a comprehensive and objective
assessment of the Group so that all shareowners and
relevant stakeholders with a legitimate interest in the Group’s
affairs can obtain a full, fair and honest account of its
performance.
Exchange Sponsors (2008) (Pty) Limited acts as Brikor’s
Designated Adviser in compliance with the JSE Listings
Requirements.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
The agenda for the annual general meeting is set by the
Company Secretary and communicated to all shareholders
in the notice of the annual general meeting, which
accompanies the annual report. Consequently, the notice of
the annual general meeting is distributed in time for the
meeting to afford all shareholders sufficient time to acquaint
themselves with the effects of any proposed resolutions.
Adequate time is also provided by the Chairman at the
annual general meeting for the discussion of any
proposed resolutions. The conduct of a poll to decide on any
proposed resolutions is controlled by the Chairman at the
meeting and takes account of the votes of all shareholders,
whether present in person or by proxy. A proxy form is
included in the annual report for this purpose.

The Group recognises the importance of its shareholders’
attendance at its annual general meeting. Explanatory notes
setting out the effect of all proposed resolutions accompany
the notice of meeting.
The designated auditor of the Group attends the annual
general meeting to respond to any questions relevant to the
audit of the financial statements.
All

meeting

participants

are

required

to

provide

identification reasonably satisfactory to the chairman of the
annual general meeting.
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Summary of remuneration policy

EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION
Brikor adopts the principle of total ‘Cost to Company’ in
determining executive directors’ remuneration packages.
This includes basic remuneration, retirement, medical and
other benefits. Packages constitute the following:
•

Basic salary: determined by market value and role
played

•

Short-term incentives: determined by fulfilment of
performance targets

•

Long-term incentives: determined by creation of
sustainable shareholder value and behaviour consistent
with this goal

The extent of managerial responsibility determines basic
remuneration of executive directors.
TERMS OF SERVICE
The Group complies with relevant legislation in determining
minimum terms and conditions for appointment of executive
directors. Executive directors have employment contracts
which all incorporate the same information and restrictions.
The contract includes a restraint of trade paragraph to
ensure the Group does not incur losses or loss of business
due to the resignation of its directors. The contracts do not
indicate any term of employment and employment will cease
with the resignation or dismissal of the director. The contract
does not specify any age or time period to indicate
retirement of directors.
SHORT-TERM INCENTIVES
Performance bonus schemes are available for executive
directors. Job level, business unit and individual
performance determine individual awards. The aim of the
bonus scheme is to reward performance in line with
organisational performance objectives and achievements.
LONG-TERM INCENTIVES
Retention of skills is a primary long-term objective of the
Group. Share-based incentive schemes aligning the interests

of the Group, its businesses and employees are intended to
promote this goal, by attracting and retaining high calibre
personnel. Share incentive awards are made by the Group
only where business and individual performance targets
have been attained.
Executive remuneration appears on page 73. No incentives
were paid to executive directors during the year due to the
financial position and performance of the Company.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION
TERMS OF SERVICE
Shareholders appoint non-executive directors at annual
general meetings, however, in terms of Group policy,
interim board appointments may be made between annual
general meeting until the next following annual general
meeting. Such interim appointees must be approved or
rejected by the shareholders at the next following annual
general meeting.
FEES
Non-executive directors are remunerated for their
contribution to the Board and Board Committees.
The annual fees payable to non-executive directors are
based on a fee for membership and, where applicable, for
assignment to sub-committees. Shareholders will be
requested to consider a special resolution approving the
non-executive directors’ fees at the annual general meeting.
There are no short- or long-term incentive schemes for
non-executive directors.
Executive directors review non-executive directors’
remuneration and recommendations are made to the Board
which in turn proposes fees for approval by shareholders at
the annual general meeting. Non-executive directors’ fees
paid during the 2011 financial year are listed on page 73.
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Brikor is committed to playing a role in advancing
sustainable development and acknowledges the importance
of social and environmental practices alongside financial
reporting.
Measures are implemented to assess and manage
sustainability initiatives and to ensure the effectiveness of the
existing policies and procedures in terms of the social and
environmental indicators.

OBJECTIVE
As a result of tough economic times, the Group has
developed a strategy of being very cost minimisation
focused but still maintaining adequate levels of income
generation. This will result in providing high quality building
products, manufactured cost effectively while maintaining
customer satisfaction. The Group’s aim is to supply products
to the building industry at the best quality and the best cost.

VALUES AND CULTURE
Brikor subscribes to a value system which guides
decision-making, is reflected in its goals and priorities and
influences its cultural behaviour.
Brikor’s value system has been summarised into five core
values, which are:
INTEGRITY – To be trustworthy, have no tolerance for
dishonesty and be dependable.
RESPECT – To be supportive and show respect at all times
and under all circumstances towards one another, superiors,
the Group and customers.
CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT – To exceed
expectations, ensure quality at all times and effectively
implement policies and procedures.
INNOVATION – To continuously seek opportunities,
challenges and solutions through new ideas and initiatives.
CUSTOMER SATISFACTION – To know the market’s
needs and build sound customer relations through
transparent communication.

CODE OF ETHICS
The Group adheres to a Code of Ethics which is aligned to
its value system.

SOCIAL INDICATORS
EMPLOYMENT
At year-end, the Company employed 676 (2010: 820)
permanent people and the divisional breakdown of
employees is set out below:

Brikor Main
Brikor Donkerhoek
Brikor Stanger

2011

2010

595
38
43

741
28
51

Labour/management relations
The Group has an open-door policy, which encourages
meaningful interaction at all levels.
Quarterly employee communication meetings take place
between employee representatives, organised labour and
Brikor management and several ground floor forums serve
as communication platforms.
Diversity and opportunity
The Group promotes equal opportunities and fair
treatment in employment through the elimination of
discrimination.
The Group’s goal is to manage the workplace diversity to
enable full advantage of the potential benefits of a diverse
workforce such as better decision-making and improved
problem solving, greater creativity and innovation and the
more successful marketing to different types of customers.
Diversity is thus experienced as an influential resource in
order to enhance organisational effectiveness, and is
managed by:
•

providing employees with the needed resources and use
of their talents and skills to contribute to the overall
accomplishment of organisational objectives.
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•

respecting and valuing employees and recognising and
acting on their contributions.

•

promoting personal growth and team development.

Non-discrimination
The Group does not discriminate, directly or indirectly,
against any employee in any employment policy or practice,
on grounds including race, sexual orientation, gender,
pregnancy, marital status, family responsibility, ethnic or
social origin, age, disability, religion, HIV status,
conscience, belief, political opinion, culture, language or
birth.
Freedom of association
Employees have the right to belong to organised labour
associations which are recognised in line with the Group’s
procedure on union recognition.
Disciplinary practices
All disciplinary practices are conducted in accordance with
the Group Disciplinary Code and Procedures in line with the
Code of Good Practice and the Labour Relations Act.
Employment equity
Employment equity and practices
Careful consideration is continuously given to analyse the
Group’s policies, procedures, practices and the working
environment in order to identify equity barriers and any
other negative influences that might have an effect on the
positive outcome of the Employment Equity Plan. Allocation
of resources includes the appointment of a designated
officer to manage the implementation, an allocated budget
to support the implementation goals of employment through
development, training and a further study bursary scheme
and the establishment of an employment equity forum.
Historically disadvantaged employees’ career
paths and skills development plans
The Group is committed to the development of all employees
and to providing equal opportunities in the workplace by
making the best use of human resources with due regard to
the need for building on existing strengths and employee
potential and subscribes to the following principles:
•

To align Employment Equity targets with Skills
Development programmes and objectives.

•

To formulate career paths for employees from
designated groups to ensure that training, development
and study opportunities are being made available to
further promote equity in the workforce.

•

To offer a mentoring programme – this consists of a
developmentally oriented relationship between a senior
and junior colleague. Mentoring becomes part of the

evaluation for promotion and assists in goal-setting,
planning and identifying of designated employees to be
fast-tracked.
Reporting
Annual Employment Equity Reports are submitted to the
Department of Labour, and progress on the Employment
Equity Plan is monitored and evaluated at the quarterly
forum.
HUMAN RESOURCE DEVELOPMENT
The primary objective of the Brikor Human Resources
Development Programme is to ensure the availability of
production operation specific skills and competencies of the
workforce, and skilling of employees for portable skills
utilisable by the employees outside the industry.
Brikor upholds the philosophy that every employee should
be given the opportunity to develop his/her personal
potential within one of the appropriate skills development
programmes.
Training and education
Skills development
All permanent employees are given access to the Human
Resources Development Programme and the overall
programme includes core training (applicable to
operations), functional literacy and numeracy, and skills
development programmes, portable skills, further study
schemes and mentorship programmes. The Skills
Development Committee conducts quarterly meetings to
evaluate the workplace skills plan and monitor progress.
Brikor utilises the services of various external service
providers, with emphasis on accredited service providers.
In-house training and on-job training are continuous at
Brikor to familiarise employees with the workplace
environment and to constantly sensitise employees to job
requirements and safety issues. The in-house and on-job
training are facilitated by identified senior employees with
more than eight years’ experience in the specific disciplines.
These training sessions are conducted in a formal classroom
setting or at the workplace, depending on the required
outcome.
A Workplace Skills Plan and Annual Training Report are
submitted to CETA annually.
Empowerment
The goal is to develop the educational base of the Brikor
workforce and give employees the opportunity to become
functionally literate and numerate, which will in turn
empower the employees beyond the boundaries of the
workplace. ABET training forms part of the Human
Resources Development Programme and is reflected in the
Workplace Skills Plan.
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ABET classes are conducted on a part-time basis during
normal working hours for the convenience of employees.
The ABET programmes are registered and conducted by
accredited service providers and official examinations take
place twice a year. The training is conducted in English,
supplemented by informal instruction in the language of
choice.
Portable skills training included articulated dump truck
(ADT) training and forklift training.
Seven employees from historically disadvantaged
backgrounds received bursaries to study in the fields of
human resources, electrical and mechanical engineering as
well as electrical infrastructure.

The Brikor Share Incentive Scheme gives all eligible
employees an opportunity to share in the success of the
Group and to participate in the ownership of the Group.
Enterprise development
Brikor’s objective is to support and encourage the
development of enterprises with sufficient black ownership
and/or B-BBEE contributor status by means of infrastructure
and operational support to ensure sustainability.
B-BBEE procurement
The objective is to increase the amount of money spent on
procurement from B-BBEE-compliant enterprises and those
that score at least 30% on the relevant B-BBEE scorecard.

Successful completion of these programmes facilitates access
to further skills training and development with possible
career advancement.

Procurement from the above enterprises will ensure that the
ripple effect of affirmative procurement is realised
throughout the economy.

BRIKOR’S BLACK ECONOMIC EMPOWERMENT
POLICY

SMME development and job creation

In terms of the Department of Trade & Industry’s BroadBased Black Economic Empowerment (B-BBEE) Codes of
Good Practice, Brikor has been rated by an independent
rating agency as a “Level 6” contributor with a procurement
recognition value of 60%.

Brikor is currently involved in the following long-term SMME
development and job creation projects:
•

The communal farming project in Rethabiseng,
Metsweding Local Municipality, is situated on about
twenty hectares of municipal commonage, next to the
local sewerage works, which provides organic manure
and water to the agricultural project. The intention is to
focus on niche markets with a specific focus on organic
produce and the inclusion of a hydroponic scheme and
poultry-rearing project to complement traditional
farming methods. Women and youth from the local
communities are empowered through this project, as
they are equipped with farming skills and business
knowledge.

The objectives of the B-BBEE plan are:
•

to increase the number of people from designated
groups, who directly own and control private
enterprises;

•

to eliminate and discourage the practice of token
ownership on the part of blacks and whites alike,
otherwise commonly referred to as fronting;

•

to set acceptable targets for levels of shareholding by
black people;

•

to explore the notion of collective ownership through
co-operatives and other similar structures; and

•

to encourage B-BBEE compliance by the Group’s
suppliers.

Equity ownership
The inclusion of historically disadvantaged individuals in the
equity ownership of the business is regarded a valuable
contribution to a new partnership and development of
sustainable entrepreneurs and it is also imperative for black
employees to play a substantial and meaningful role in
equity ownership in the Group.

Rethabiseng Food Garden Project

•

Zithobeni Waste Recycling Project
The Company supports an income generating waste
recycling project at the Kungwini Local Municipality
landfill site, which is in close proximity to the Zithobeni
Township, Bronkhorstspruit. There are numerous
informal ‘collectors’ active on the site, who sort through
waste on the landfill and then sell the waste recovered
to established businesses in the recycling industry. Brikor
participates, together with industry in the region, in the
establishment of a covered recycling centre with sorting
bays to separate the various waste products. The centre
will be equipped with ablution facilities and a first aid
station and formal training will be provided to assist the
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members of the co-operative in hazard identification.
All co-operative members for the recycling, selling,
marketing and administration functions come from the
local community and full training in their various
disciplines will be provided to ensure the success of the
venture.
A future project which Brikor will participate in is:
•

Duduza Broiler Chicken Project
The project, situated in Duduza which has been
identified as a poverty node and earmarked for
development focus by Ekurhuleni Metropolitan
Municipality, will incorporate broiler chicken
production, bread baking, specialised hydroponic
vegetable production and traditional crop production. A
training and job centre at the Ergo Training Centre will
provide administrative, financial marketing and
information technology skills and knowledge and will be
incorporated with the agricultural project. Siyabonga
Africa will provide skills training for the broiler chicken
and bakery projects.

CORPORATE SOCIAL INVESTMENT
The Group is effecting donations to identified charitable
institutions who are involved in the upliftment of the quality
of life of local communities and the disabled, as well as the
HIV/AIDS affected.
Brikor receives numerous requests for assistance from a wide
range of organisations and assesses each one on its merits.
Operation Snow Drop
Operation Snow Drop is a non-profit organisation of
professionals who assist with poverty alleviation, upliftment
of people and skills training, to improve the lives of the less
fortunate. Brikor contributes to this operation which
manages the following ongoing projects:
•

School feeding project at Tlakula High School feeding
450 learners daily, during school term with alternate
arrangements during school holidays;

•

Feeding at the Bophelo HIV Clinic of 100 people daily
and once a week the Selcourt Methodist soup kitchen;

•

Handing out of sandwiches, clothing and other
donations every Thursday to the Never-Never and
Hollywood informal settlements and in Geduld;

•

Sponsoring six students to further their studies;

•

Contributing to numerous projects during the year,
including a soup drive in winter, curry and rice meals to
400 people and Christmas functions;

•

Assisting with teaching unemployed women various
crafts; sewing and knitting to improve their own living
conditions as well as to earn a living. Though this
project is still in its infancy, the women involved have
been able to generate income from the items that they
have sold; and

•

Sponsoring two netball teams at Never-Never and in
the process attempting to put together a league with
Hollywood.

Operation Snow Drop has the vision to supply EarthBoxes®
to indigent families to enable them to grow their own
vegetables and become self-supportive.
SAFETY, HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENT
Policy, strategy and procedures are in place to cater for
environmental and occupational health and safety issues.
Considerable emphasis is placed on preventing workplace
accidents and fatalities and ongoing compliance with the
Mine Health and Safety Act.
All manufacturing operations have health and safety
representatives and Health and Safety Committees have
been formed and monthly meetings are held. In-house
training on various safety precautions, codes of practice,
safe operating procedures, etc are conducted on a regular
basis.
The Occupational Hygienist ensures conformance to a
formal Code of Practice. A medical surveillance programme
has been established and is outsourced to a third party,
including the services of an Occupational Practitioner and a
part-time Occupational Health Sister.
HIV/AIDS
Brikor recognises the serious impact of the HIV/AIDS
pandemic, alongside the threat of other diseases which
could cause significant risk. Healthcare promotion therefore
concentrates on various infectious and lifestyle diseases.
Environment
Brikor is committed to prioritising environmental concerns
and a formal Environmental Management Policy is in place.
Various control methods are put in place with regard to
drainage, erosion, alien vegetation, etc. Staff training on
environmental management systems is in process.
Regular environmental audits are conducted to ensure that
any impact on the environment is minimised. Concern for
the environment is fundamental to operations and Brikor
aims to create and maintain a safe and healthy environment
in which levels of risk to employees, equipment and the
community are minimised.
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The Board of Directors acknowledges its responsibility to ensure the integrity of the Integrated Report. The Board has
accordingly applied its mind to the Integrated Report and in the opinion of the Board the Integrated Report addresses
all material issues, and presents fairly the integrated performance of the organisation and its impacts. The Integrated Report
has been prepared in line with best practice pursuant to the recommendations of the King III Code. The Board authorised the
Integrated Report for release on 22 August 2011.
For an on behalf of the Board

G v N Parkin

H Botha

Chief Executive Officer

Financial Director

REPORT PROFILE
The directors take pleasure in presenting Brikor’s first Integrated Report. The Integrated Report will in future be incorporated in
the annual report for each financial year ending 28 February.
The Report covers the activities of the Group and complies with the requirements of IFRS to the extent that references are made
to audited figures and to the principles and requirement of King III, except where reasons have been recorded why King III has
not been applied.
In addition to relying on representations and information provided by management, the Board has drawn assurance from the
external auditors, RSM Betty & Dickson (Tshwane), in the course of their annual audit of the Group’s financial statements and
the unqualified audit report.

ORGANISATIONAL OVERVIEW, BUSINESS MODEL AND GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
Brikor Limited has been listed on the Altx of the JSE Limited since 2007.
Brikor is a manufacturer and supplier of clay bricks, roof tiles, clay pipes, pavers and ancillary products as well as a
producer of coal. Brikor’s core operations are situated at its Nigel plants.
Business strategy
The business strategy of the Group, on completion of its restructuring programme, is to:
•
•
•
•
•
•

be self-sufficient in the supply of raw materials;
increase production capacity and offer a diverse product range of quality building materials at the best prices;
supply affordable products;
manage a sound financial system to benefit all stakeholders;
expand its market footprint through aggressive marketing and ensure customer satisfaction by excellent customer service; and
maintain dynamic leadership with an innovative and supportive culture towards employees.
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Governance structure
A table outlining the governance structure, noting the committees and authority levels, is presented below.
Board

Audit
Committee

R van Rooyen

Independent
Non-Executive
Chairman
(Appointed as
director on
21 January 2011
and appointed as
Chairman on
25 May 2011)

Member
(Appointed
18 March 2011)

G v N Parkin

Chief Executive
Officer (Resigned as
Chairman on
25 May 2011)

NM Anderson

Non-Executive
Director
(Appointed
18 March 2011)

H Botha

Financial Director

E Chimombe-Munyoro

Non-Executive
Director
(Resigned
15 March 2011)

Member
(Resigned
15 March 2011)

E Grobbelaar

Independent NonExecutive Director
(Resigned
18 March 2011)

Chairman
(Resigned
18 March 2011)

W Krüger

Chief Operating
Officer

RJ Magoele

Independent NonExecutive Director
(Appointed
18 March 2011)

G Parkin

Alternate Director to
the CEO

JH Wood

Independent NonExecutive Director
(Appointed
21 January 2011)

Remuneration
Committee

Risk
Committee
Member
(Appointed
25 May 2011)

Member
(Appointed
25 May 2011)
Member
(Appointed
18 March 2011)

Chairman
(Appointed
25 May 2011)
Member
(Appointed
25 May 2011)

Member
(Appointed
25 May 2011)
Chairman
(Appointed
25 May 2011)

Member
(Appointed
18 March 2011)

Member
(Appointed
25 May 2011)

Member
(Appointed
18 March 2011)

Chairman
(Appointed
18 March 2011)

Member
(Appointed
25 May 2011)

An Ethics and Sustainability Committee was established on 18 March 2011 under the chairmanship of Mr W Krüger with the
operations managers as its members. The Ethics and Sustainability Committee will submit written reports on its activities to the
Board.
The Group’s Corporate Governance Report appears on pages 8 to 16 of this annual report.
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT
Brikor is a manufacturer and supplier of materials to the building and construction industries, across a broad spectrum of the
market from low-cost housing residential and commercial to construction projects. The DIY market is showing growth and the
Group will be capitalising on the opportunities offered by this lucrative market. During the 2011 financial year, adverse
trading conditions continued in the building and construction sectors with a continued decline in residential and commercial
building activities and very competitive pricing.
During the year ahead, the potential of the coal operations will be explored and optimised to strengthen its contribution to the
Group’s profitability.
Stakeholder engagement
Brikor’s direct external relationships are primarily with its shareholders, financiers, advisors, customers and suppliers with
internal relationships consisting of employee engagement as well as with their representative bodies. These relationships are
actively managed by the executive directors and senior members of management.
Authorities
The Board reviews its delegation of financial responsibilities to the executive
management annually and sets appropriate limits. Matuson & Associates was
appointed to facilitate the restructuring programme and was granted the
authority to implement the requisite financial and strategic plans surrounding
the restructuring programme by the Board.
Identifying risks and opportunities
The key differentiators for Brikor in the market where it operates are:
•

Brikor has its own clay reserves;

•

Brikor has its own coal reserves;

•

the combined effect of having these reserves in its own operations; and

•

the central positioning in Gauteng of the Nigel plants.

The key risks that Brikor face include:
•
•
•
•
•
•

the sluggishness of conditions in the residential building sector, which accounts for more than 80% of the brick market;
continued delays in the awarding of government infrastructure projects;
labour force activities that affect production;
the volatility of the price of fuel;
the current market prices offered by incumbents in the market segment; and
the financial structure.

A formalised programme has been adopted to mitigate most of the risks above and to exploit the opportunities. Refer to the
restructuring programme below.

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES – THE RESTRUCTURING PROGRAMME
Brikor appointed a Chief Restructuring Officer (“CRO”) on 26 June 2011 to facilitate the restructuring process and to assist the
Board and management to successfully implement and execute this critically important initiative of the Company.
The restructuring programme includes inter alia:
Internal restructuring
•

Reduce operating expenses to the historical level of no more than 12% of revenue by:
–

reducing the staff complement to support its core operations at its Nigel plants;
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–
–

re-assessing all operating expenses (including salaries and wages); and
re-assessing all overhead costs.

•

The above reduction should result in an estimated saving of R11 million per annum and was completed on 31 May 2011
– the financial benefit of which is expected to materialise from June 2011 onwards.

•

An assessment of all costs related to the manufacturing process was conducted and the implementation of cost-saving
measures on items such as labour, transport and materials will have an estimated impact of R30 million on FY2012.

Mothballed operations
•
•
•

Current market prices, high production costs and high logistics costs necessitated the mothballing of some operations.
Production at certain plants was stopped in October 2010 and April 2011.
The estimated cost-saving due to the mothballing of these plants is R50 million.

Sale of Stanger Brick & Tile
•

Brikor has entered into a sale agreement with the parties to the sale of the business of Stanger Brick & Tile on 11 March
2011, subject to certain conditions precedent.

Sale of surplus or redundant assets
•

Some transport vehicles and redundant equipment were sold on auction on 17 May 2011 for a total consideration of
R9 million.

Logistics
•

To improve transport efficiencies, a strategy was formulated that outsources Brikor’s transport requirement to subcontractors.

•

Financial flexibility and a reduction in transport-related expenses of R4 million will be provided through the utilisation of
sub-contractors.

Coal plant
•

Brikor’s coal operations will contribute to the profitability of the Group and management at the coal plant will be
strengthened to optimise the potential of the coal operations.

Debt restructuring
•

Brikor plans to reduce its high debt and financing costs levels.

Cash flow management
•

The CRO will oversee the preparation and management of a rolling quarterly cash flow to be submitted to the Board. The
Board will report to shareholders as and when required on the cash flow situation and any other significant deviations or
variances in respect of the restructuring plans in place.

Based on the Group’s restructuring plans being successfully executed and implemented, budgets and cash flow forecasts for the
ensuing year, (which are based on the current expected economic and market conditions), and the continued support of the
Group’s financiers (who remain fully apprised of the Group’s results, liquidity challenges, future business and contingency
plans), the directors believe that the Company and the Group have adequate financial resources to continue as a going
concern during the ensuing year. Accordingly, the directors have adopted the going concern basis in preparing the annual
financial statements.

PERFORMANCE
The Group’s results for the financial year continued to be impacted by market conditions, in particular the delays and
cancellations in building and construction projects, most notable, the awarding of tenders by metropolitan municipalities. The
very competitive trading environment, underpinned by reduced demand, increased pressure on margins with the resultant effect
on the Group’s trading results and liquidity.
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Summary financial information
2010
R’000

2011
R’000
Revenue
Gross profit
Operating loss before impairments
Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company
Basic loss per share (cents)
Headline loss per share (cents)
Net asset value per share (cents)
Net tangible asset value per share (cents)

273 638
28 394
(28 160)
(218 954)
(34,9)
(6,6)
5,3
4,2

280 279
38 600
(19 581)
(124 377)
(19,9)
(5,5)
40,2
37,2

Property, plant and equipment reduced to R208 million (2010: R410 million) mainly attributable to the depreciation charge,
impairments and the sale of certain land and buildings. The expectation of the future economic viability of certain plants
deteriorated to such an extent that management had to impair those assets to their recoverable amount. Therefore, an amount
of R175,7 million was impaired. Management’s calculations of recoverable amounts were lower than the carrying amounts for
Stanger Brick & Tile and therefore management believed it prudent to provide for an impairment of R10,8 million on the
goodwill of the division. The impairment on intangible assets was R10,1 million. Capital expenditure amounted to R4,6 million
and related to the maintenance of production capacities.

REMUNERATION POLICIES
Principles of executive remuneration
The Group’s remuneration policy aims to attract and retain high-calibre executives and to motivate them to develop and
implement the Group’s business strategy in order to optimise long-term shareholder value creation. The policy conforms to
King III and is based on the following principles:
•

Total rewards are set at levels that are competitive within the relevant market.

•

Incentive-based rewards are earned through the achievement of demanding performance conditions consistent with
shareholder interests over the short-, medium- and long-term.

•

Incentive plans, performance measures and targets are structured to operate effectively throughout the business cycle.

•

The design of long-term incentives is prudent and does not expose shareholders to unreasonable financial risk.

A summary of Brikor’s remuneration policy appears on page 17. No incentives were paid to executive directors during the year
due to the financial position of the Company.

BRIKOR SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME
The provisions of Schedule 14 of the JSE’s Listings Requirements were materially revised in October 2008. Companies are
required to make the appropriate amendments to their existing schemes by no later than 1 January 2011. The necessary
resolutions to effect the amendments were approved by the JSE and the necessary resolutions to effect the amendments are
included in the 2011 notice of annual general meeting for approval by shareholders.
Copies of the current share trust deed, as well as the new share trust deed incorporating the proposed amendments, will be
available for inspection by shareholders during normal business hours at the Company’s head office for a period of 14 days
prior to the annual general meeting.
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Statement of responsibility and
approval by the directors

The directors are responsible for the maintenance of adequate accounting records and the preparation and integrity of the
Group annual financial statements and related information included in this report for the year ended 28 February 2011.
The Group annual financial statements, compiled by the Financial Director, have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards and are based upon appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and
supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates. The external auditors are engaged to express an
independent opinion on the annual financial statements.
The directors are also responsible for the systems of internal control. These are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute
assurance as to the reliability of the financial statements, and to adequately safeguard, verify and maintain accountability of
assets, and to prevent and detect material misstatements and losses. The systems are implemented and monitored by suitably
trained personnel with an appropriate segregation of authority and duties. Risks are identified and appraised both formally,
through the annual process of preparing business plans and budgets, and informally through close monitoring of operations.
Nothing has come to the attention of the directors to indicate that any material breakdown in the functioning of these controls,
procedures and systems has occurred during the year under review.
The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis. This basis assumes that the funds will be available to
finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in
the ordinary course of business. The ability of the Group to continue as a going concern is dependent on a number of factors.
The most significant of these is that the profitable operations can be continued and the directors continue to procure funding for
the ongoing operations of the Group.
The Group annual financial statements set out on pages 31 to 81 were approved by the Board of Directors on 19 August 2011
and are signed on its behalf by:

G v N Parkin

H Botha

Chief Executive Officer

Financial Director

Declaration by company secretary
We declare that, to the best of our knowledge, all returns required for a public company have, in respect of the year under
review, been lodged with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission and that all such returns are true, correct and
up to date.

CIS Company Secretaries (Pty) Limited
Per: Richard Austin
Company Secretary
Nigel
19 August 2011
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Report of the
independent auditors

whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk

To the shareholders of Brikor Limited
We have audited the Group annual financial statements of
Brikor Limited, set out on pages 31 to 81, which comprise the
directors’ report, the Audit Committee report, statement of
financial position as at 28 February 2011, and the statement
of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity
and statement of cash flow for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes, as well as the analysis of shareholding.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Company’s directors are responsible for the preparation
and fair presentation of these annual financial statements in
accordance

with

International

Financial

Reporting

Standards, the AC 500 Standards as issued by the

assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to
the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the annual
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness

of

accounting

estimates

made

by

management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the annual financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

OPINION

Accounting Practices Board and its successor, and in the

In our opinion, the annual financial statements present fairly,

manner required by the Companies Act of South Africa. This

in all material respects, the financial position of the Brikor

responsibility includes: designing, implementing and

Limited and its subsidiaries as on 28 February 2011, and of

maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and

its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then

fair presentation of annual financial statements that are free

ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;

Standards, the AC 500 Standards as issued by the

selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and

Accounting Practices Board and its successor, and in the

making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the

manner required by the Companies Act of South Africa.

circumstances.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND
REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial

Compliance with laws and regulations

statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements

In accordance with our responsibilities in terms of sections
44(2) and 44(3) of the Auditing Profession Act, we report
that we have identified certain acts or omissions committed

and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable

by persons responsible for the management of Brikor Limited

assurance whether the annual financial statements are free

which constitute a reportable irregularity in terms of the

from material misstatement.

Auditing Professions Act, 2005 (No 26 of 2005), an have

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the annual

reported such matter to the Independent Regulatory Board of
Auditors.

financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the

The reportable irregularity relates to the erroneous release

auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of

by the Company of its interim results for the six months

material misstatement of the annual financial statements,

ended 31 August 2010 on 24 December 2010 in
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Report of the
independent auditors

circumstances where the procedure to obtain the appropriate
authority from the Board of the Company, as required by the
Articles of Association of the Company, had not been
adequately followed.
The interim results have since been approved by the Board
of the Company and we have subsequently notified the
Regulatory Board for Auditors that we are satisfied that the
reportable irregularity has been rectified.

EMPHASIS OF MATTER
Without qualifying our opinion we draw attention to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
ended 28 February 2011 according to which a total
comprehensive loss of R218 954 000 was incurred during
the financial year and the note on going concern in the
directors’ report and in note 35 to the annual financial
statements. These events indicate a material uncertainty that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern and therefore the Group may by unable
to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal
course of business. The ability of the Group to continue as a
going concern is dependent on several factors which, inter
alia, include that profitable operations can be resumed, the
sale of certain assets and the continued support of the
Group’s financiers and creditors.

RSM Betty & Dickson (Tshwane)
Registered Auditors
Per: Paul den Boer
Registered Auditor
Pretoria
22 August 2011

continued
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The directors hereby present their report on the activities of

The directors use the scheme to retain key personnel and for

the Group, which forms part of the audited Group annual

the purpose of providing opportunities to employees to

financial statements for the year ended 28 February 2011.

participate in the Group’s growth and success.

The Group annual financial statements presented on pages
36 to 81 set out fully the financial position, results of
operations and cash flow of the Group for the financial year
ended 28 February 2011.

NATURE OF BUSINESS
The main business of the Group is the manufacture and
distribution of bricks and related products and business
incidental thereto as well as the production of coal.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
The loss for the year amounted to R219 million (2010: R124
million loss).
Full details of the financial position and results of the Group
are set out in these financial statements on pages 36 to 81.
A review of the Group’s results and performance is
contained on pages 3 to 5.

The aggregate number of shares which may be utilised for
the Trust is limited to 20% of the total issued shares of the
Company.
At 28 February 2011, 15 900 000 (2010: 15 900 000)
shares were held by the Brikor Share Incentive Scheme for
the purposes of the Scheme.
In 2011, 816 000 (2010: 172 000) offers were cancelled.
The unallocated scheme shares at 28 February 2011
amounted to 11 844 000 (28 February 2010: 11 028 000).
Details of the Brikor Share Incentive Scheme are set out in
note 34 on page 77.

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS
A general authority to repurchase ordinary shares in the
Company was granted in terms of a special resolution
passed by the Company’s shareholders on 29 October

SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS

2010, which authority shall be valid until the next annual

Details of the segmental analysis of the Brikor business units

general meeting. During the financial year under review, the

are set out on pages 69 and 70.

Company did not utilise this general authority. No other

AUTHORISED AND ISSUED SHARE CAPITAL
There were no changes in the authorised share capital of the
Company during the year under review.

special resolutions were passed by the Company or its
subsidiaries which would affect the understanding of the
Group.
Shareholder approval will be sought at the upcoming

All authorised but unissued shares have been placed under

annual general meeting to be held on 26 October 2011 for

the control of the directors until the next annual general

the following special resolutions:

meeting.

1.

Brikor holds 15 900 000 ordinary shares of R1,00 each of

ensuing year.

its own shares. The shares are held as treasury shares by the
Brikor Share Incentive Scheme.

2.

rights.

BRIKOR SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME
Brikor has a share purchase scheme as an incentive for all
employees of the Group.

Approval of directors’ emoluments for the year ended
28 February 2011.

During the year 4 101 723 ordinary shares were issued at
a premium of R0,12 per share for the acquisition of mining

Approval of non-executive directors’ fees for the

3.

Granting the Company the authority to provide
financial assistance to subsidiary companies within
the Group.

DIVIDENDS
No dividends were declared or paid during the review year.
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DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY

Name

Designation

R van Rooyen

Independent Non-Executive Chairman
(Appointed as Chairman on 25 May 2011)

G v N Parkin*

Chief Executive Officer
(Resigned as Chairman on 25 May 2011)

W Kruger*

Chief Operating Officer

H Botha*

Financial Director

G Parkin*

Alternate to G v N Parkin

E Grobbelaar

Independent Non-Executive Director

E Chimombe-Munyoro
NM Anderson

Date of

Date of

appointment

resignation

21 January 2011
11 July 1997
20 November 2009
1 May 2005
20 February 2007
24 April 2009

18 March 2011

Non-Executive Director

29 October 2009

15 March 2011

Non-Executive Director

18 March 2011

RJ Magoele

Independent Non-Executive Director

18 March 2011

JH Wood

Independent Non-Executive Director

21 January 2011

* Executive

Ms H Botha resigned as Company Secretary and CIS Company Secretaries (Pty) Limited was appointed as Company Secretary
with effect from 18 March 2011.
The number of meetings attended by each of the directors of the Company during the period 1 March 2010 to 28 February
2011 are shown on page 9.

DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDING
Details of the directors’ and associates’ shareholding are disclosed in note 33 on page 77.
No shares were purchased subsequent to the year-end. Directors have an aggregate beneficial interest of 80,53%
(2010: 81,05%).
The staff of the Designated Adviser of Brikor held 2 200 000 shares (0,34%) (2010: 4 884 827 shares (0,76%)) directly and
indirectly in the ordinary share capital of the Company at year-end.
There has been no material change in the directors’ interest in the issued share capital between 28 February 2011 and the date
of this report.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
Details of the directors’ emoluments are set out in note 29 on page 73 to the annual financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS
The Company has an option to acquire 69% of the shares in Ilangabi Investments 12 (Pty) Limited which are held by
G v N Parkin, together with his claims against that company. The treatment of this agreement is disclosed in note 36 to the
annual financial statements.

SHAREHOLDING ANALYSIS
Details of the Company’s shareholding are set out on page 81.
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SUBSIDIARIES
Details of the holding Company’s interest in subsidiaries are
set out in note 37 on page 80. The Company had an
interest in its subsidiaries’ aggregate profit after taxation of
Rnil (2010: Rnil).

BORROWING POWERS

The statement of comprehensive income indicates that the
Group has incurred a loss of R219 million for the year ended
28 February 2011. Included in this loss are finance costs
amounting to R29,1 million, impairments of R196,6 million
and bad debts written off of R7,2 million.
As a result of the attributable comprehensive loss for the year
ended 28 February 2011, as well as that of prior years,

In terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation of the

coupled with the current macro economic climate, the

Company, the directors may exercise all the powers of

directors have entered into a comprehensive restructuring

the Company to borrow without limit, as they consider
appropriate.

MAJOR CHANGES IN NON-CURRENT ASSETS

programme to restore operations to profitability, and to
strengthen the Group’s financial position.
The ability of the Group to continue as a going concern is
dependent

on

several

factors,

including

profitable

Property, plant and equipment reduced to R208 million

operations, the sale of certain assets and the continued

(2010: R410 million) mainly attributable to the depreciation

support of the Group’s financiers and creditors.

charge, impairments and the sale of certain land and
buildings. The expectation of the future economic viability of
certain plants deteriorated to such an extent that

To execute the different activities of the restructuring plan, the
Board appointed a Chief Restructuring Officer (“CRO”) on
26 June 2011. The CRO will facilitate the restructuring

management had to impair those assets to their recoverable

process and play an important role, together with the Board

amount. Therefore, an amount of R175,7 million was

and management, to successfully implement and execute this

impaired. Management’s calculations of recoverable

critically important initiative of the Company.

amounts were lower than the carrying amounts for Stanger
Brick & Tile and therefore management believed it prudent to
provide for an impairment of R10,8 million on the goodwill
of the division. The impairment on intangible assets was
R10,1 million. Capital expenditure amounted to R4,6 million
and related to the maintenance of production capacities.

The Board confirms that the CRO will and have not been
involved at any time and in any way in the management
and/or supervision of the business of the Group and that the
trading and affairs of the Company will continue to be
solely under the control and be the responsibility of Brikor’s
Board of Directors and management.

The Group acquired mining rights at an after-tax value of

For further particulars on the restructuring programme,

R5 797 000. This was financed through cash payments of

please refer to the Integrated Report on pages 24 and 25.

R1 300 000, a share issue for R500 000 and the balance of
R3 997 000 on loan account to be paid in September 2015.

DESIGNATED ADVISER

The substance of the transaction is disclosed in note 36 to the

Following the termination of Vunani Corporate Finance as

annual financial statements.

Designated Adviser of Brikor, Exchange Sponsors (2008)

STATEMENT ON GOING CONCERN
The 2011 year-end financial statements have been prepared
on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going

(Pty) Limited was appointed Designated Adviser of Brikor in
January 2011.

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE
REPORTING PERIOD

concern. This basis presumes that the necessary funds will be
available to finance future operations and that the realisation

Sale of assets

of the sale of assets, settlement of liabilities, contingent

Some transport vehicles and redundant equipment were sold

obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary

on auction on 17 May 2011 for a total consideration of

course of business.

R9 658 000. A loss of R62 000 was realised.
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Changes to the Board of Directors and Board
Committees

Risk Committee
The following directors were appointed as the members of

Mrs E Chimombe-Munyoro resigned as non-executive

the Risk Committee:

director from the Board with effect from 15 March 2011.

NM Anderson (Chairman)

Mr E Grobbelaar resigned as non-executive director from

H Botha

the Board with effect from 18 March 2011.

W Krüger

Mrs H Botha resigned as company secretary and CIS
Company Secretaries (Pty) Limited was appointed with effect

RJ Magoele
G v N Parkin
R van Rooyen

from 18 March 2011.

JH Wood

Ms RJ Magoele and Mr NM Anderson were appointed as

SALE OF CERTAIN ASSETS

non-executive directors of the Board with effect from
18 March 2011.

Negotiations are continuing regarding the sale of certain
assets in line with Brikor’s strategy to strengthen the Group’s

In compliance with King Report on Corporate Governance

cash resources and improve its current debt position. These

South Africa 2009 (“King III”) the roles of the CEO and the

are subject to various conditions precedent which are

Chairman have been split with Mr R van Rooyen being

customary in transactions of this nature, inter alia,

appointed as Independent Non-Executive Chairman on

shareholders’ and other regulatory approvals.

25 May 2011.

Management is not aware of any material events, other than

In terms of Brikor’s commitment to Corporate Governance

as outlined above, which occurred subsequent to the year

and as a result of the above appointments to the Board, the

ended 28 February 2011. There has been no material

Board has decided to re-constitute its sub-committees as

change in the Group’s contingent liabilities since the

follows:
Audit Committee
The following non-executive directors were appointed as the
members of the Audit Committee:
Ms RJ Magoele (Chairman);
Mr R van Rooyen;
Mr NM Anderson; and
Mr JH Wood.
Remuneration Committee
The following non-executive directors were appointed as the
members of the Remuneration Committee:
Mr JH Wood (Chairman); and
Ms RJ Magoele.

financial year-end.

AUDITORS
RSM Betty & Dickson (Tshwane) continued in office as
auditors of the Company and its subsidiaries for 2011.
At the annual general meeting, shareholders will be
requested to appoint KPMG, Registered Auditors, as auditors
of Brikor Limited and Hendrik van Heerden as the
designated auditor for the 2012 financial year.
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Report of the Audit Committee

During the reporting year, the composition of the Audit Committee consisted of an independent non-executive
director and a non-executive director. Two additional independent non-executive directors were appointed from 21 January
2011. During the reporting year, in addition to the duties set out in the report on corporate governance, the Audit Committee
carried out its functions as follows:
•

nominated the appointment of RSM Betty & Dickson (Tshwane) as the registered independent auditor after satisfying itself
through enquiry that RSM Betty & Dickson (Tshwane) is independent as defined in terms of the Companies Act, 2008
(“Act”);

•

determined the fees to be paid to RSM Betty & Dickson (Tshwane) and their terms of engagement;

•

ensured that the appointment of RSM Betty & Dickson (Tshwane) complied with the Act and any other
legislation relating to the appointment of auditors; and

•

approved a non-audit services policy which determines the nature and extent of any non-audit services which RSM Betty
& Dickson (Tshwane) may provide to the Group.

RSM Betty & Dickson (Tshwane) has also provided no non-audit services to the Group.
The Audit Committee has satisfied itself through enquiry that RSM Betty & Dickson (Tshwane) and Mr Paul den Boer, the
designated auditor, are independent of the Group.
Appointment of auditors
Mr P den Boer has been the Company’s designated auditor for five years and a rotation of designated auditor is required in
terms of the Act.
The Committee has nominated, for approval at the annual general meeting, KPMG, Registered Auditors, as the external
auditor, and Hendrik van Heerden the designated auditor for the 2012 financial year. The Committee confirms that the auditor
and designated auditor are accredited by the JSE Limited.
Annual financial statements
The Audit Committee fulfilled its mandate and recommended the financial statements for the year ended
28 February 2011 for approval to the Board. The Board approved the financial statements on 19 August 2011 and the
financial statements will be open for discussion at the annual general meeting.
Group financial director
The Audit Committee confirms that it has satisfied itself of the appropriateness of the expertise and experience of the Financial
Director of the Group, Mrs H Botha.
Approval
The Audit Committee report has been approved by the Board of Directors of Brikor.

Approved on behalf of the Audit Committee

Ms RJ Magoele
Chairman of the Audit Committee
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Consolidated statement of
financial position
as at 28 February 2011

Notes

2011

2010

R’000

R’000

218 837

434 680

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

3

208 672

410 741

Intangible assets

4

6 639

10 997

Goodwill

6

–

10 825

Other financial assets

7

3 526

2 117

86 044

109 546

9

50 554

66 067

Trade and other receivables

10

28 978

35 010

Cash and cash equivalents

11

6 512

8 469

5

–

1 450

304 881

545 676

33 048

251 502

Current assets
Inventories

Non-current assets held for sale
Total assets

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company
Share capital

12

63

62

Share premium

12

228 179

227 680

(195 194)

23 760

(Accumulated loss)/retained earnings

50 456

197 262

13

40 328

153 968

8

–

33 654

14

10 128

9 640

221 377

96 912

136 123

15 349

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Deferred taxation
Provisions
Current liabilities
Borrowings

13

Taxation

15 063

15 912

Trade and other payables

15

43 522

40 609

Bank overdraft

11

26 669

25 042

304 881

545 676

629 342 031

625 240 308

Net asset value per share (cents)

5,3

40,2

Net tangible asset value per share (cents)

4,2

37,2

Total equity and liabilities
Number of shares in issue (excluding treasury shares)
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Consolidated statement of
comprehensive income
for the year ended 28 February 2011

Revenue

2011

2010

Notes

R’000

R’000

16

273 638

280 279

(223 779)

(220 177)

(21 465)

(21 502)

28 394

38 600

Cost of sales
Cost of sales – depreciation
Gross profit
Other income
Depreciation and amortisation
Operating expenses
Operating loss before impairments
Impairments

3,4,6

Operating loss before interest and taxation

2 022

3 812

(4 510)

(8 279)

(54 066)

(53 714)

(28 160)

(19 581)

(196 568)

(102 202)

(224 728)

(121 783)

Interest received

19

Finance costs

20

(29 132)

(27 963)

Loss before taxation

18

(253 451)

(146 983)

Taxation

21

409

34 497

2 763

22 606

Total loss for the year attributable to equity holders
of the Company

(218 954)

(124 377)

(218 954)

(124 377)

Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to
equity holders of the Company
Basic loss per share (cents)

25

(34,9)

(19,9)

Fully diluted loss per share (cents)

25

(34,0)

(19,4)
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Consolidated statement of
changes in equity
for the year ended 28 February 2011

(Accumulated
Share

Share loss)/retained

Total

capital

premium

income

equity

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

62

225 980

185 993

412 035

Share capital issued

–

1 400

–

1 400

Dividend declared

–

–

(9 556)

(9 556)

Comprehensive loss for the year

–

–

(28 300)

(28 300)

62

227 380

148 137

375 579

Share capital issued

–

300

–

300

Comprehensive loss for the year

–

–

(124 377)

(124 377)
251 502

Balance at 29 February 2008

Balance at 28 February 2009

Balance at 28 February 2010

62

227 680

23 760

Share capital issued

1

499

–

Total comprehensive loss for the year

–

–

(218 954)

63

228 179

(195 194)

Balance at 28 February 2011

500
(218 954)
33 048

39

Consolidated statement of
cash flows
for the year ended 28 February 2011

Notes
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash receipts from customers
Cash paid to suppliers and employees

2011

2010

R’000

R’000

(2 822)

7 276

284 096

292 547

(257 347)

(261 348)

Cash generated from operations

22

26 749

31 199

Interest income

19

409

2 763

Finance costs
Taxation paid

23

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

3

Proceeds on disposal of plant and equipment
Proceeds on disposal of non-current assets held for sale
Intangible assets acquired

(26 640)

(26 381)

(3 340)

(305)

(7 895)

(9 163)

(4 555)

(14 776)

1 457

7 304

1 421
36

Increases in investments
Cash flows from financing activities

–

(4 809)

(282)

(1 409)

(1 409)

7 133

(1 914)

Borrowings raised

20 558

33 668

Borrowings repaid

(13 425)

(35 582)

(3 584)

(3 801)

(16 573)

(12 772)

(20 157)

(16 573)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

11
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Notes to the

annual financial statements

continued

for the year ended 28 February 2011

1.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1.1

Presentation of annual financial statements
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards,
the AC 500 standards as issued by the Accounting Practices Board and its successor, the Companies Act of South
Africa and the JSE Listings Requirements. The annual financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis and incorporate the principal accounting policies set out below.
These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period, except for the changes set out in note 2.1.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in note 1.2.

1.2

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make estimates and judgements and form
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of the assets and liabilities, the reported revenue and costs during
the period presented therein, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements.
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future and the resulting accounting estimates will,
by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates, assumptions and judgements that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the financial results or the financial position reported in future
periods are discussed below:
Allowance for doubtful debts
Debtors’ balances older than three months are regularly assessed by management for impairment if there is
objective evidence of impairment. Impairments for trade receivables are calculated on an individual basis.
Allowance for damaged and obsolete inventories
Judgement is used to write down inventory to the lower of cost or net realisable value. Management has made
estimates of the selling price and direct cost to sell on certain inventory items. The write-down is included in the
operating profit.
Impairment testing
The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units and individual assets have been determined based on the
higher of value-in-use calculations and fair values less costs to sell. These calculations require the use of
estimates and assumptions. It is reasonably possible that the assumptions may change which may then impact
estimations and may then require a material adjustment to the carrying value of goodwill and tangible assets.
The Group reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when events or changes in circumstances suggest that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. In addition, goodwill is tested on an annual basis for impairment.
Assets are grouped at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of cash flows of
other assets and liabilities. If there are indications that impairment may have occurred, estimates are prepared
of expected future cash flows for each group of assets. Expected future cash flows used to determine the
value-in-use of goodwill and tangible assets are inherently uncertain and could materially change over time.
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for the year ended 28 February 2011

1.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1.2

continued

Critical accounting estimates and judgements continued
Property, plant and equipment
The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period. If the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for as a change in
accounting estimate.
Taxation
Judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes due to the complexity of legislation. There
are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. Where the final tax outcome is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is
made. The Group recognises the net future tax benefit related to deferred income tax assets to the extent that it
is probable that the deductible temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future. Assessing the
recoverability of deferred income tax assets requires the Group to make significant estimates related to
expectations of future taxable income. Estimates of future taxable income are based on forecast cash flows from
operations and the application of existing tax laws in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future cash flows and
taxable income differ significantly from estimates, the ability of the Group to realise the net deferred tax assets
recorded at the end of the reporting period could be impacted.
Leases
Management has applied its judgement to classify all lease agreements that the Company is party to as
operating leases, as they do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the Group.
Provisions
Provisions were raised and management determined an estimate based on the information available. Additional
disclosures of these estimates of provisions are included in note 14 – Provisions.

1.3

Property, plant and equipment
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:
•

it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group; and

•

the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of property, plant and equipment and costs
incurred subsequently to add to or, replace part of it. If a replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount
of an item of property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
Day-to-day expenses incurred on property, plant and equipment is expensed directly in profit or loss for the
period. Major maintenance that meets the recognition criteria is capitalised.
Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairments.
Depreciation commences when an asset is available for use. Depreciation is charged so as to write off the
depreciable amount of items (other than land) to their residual values, over their estimated useful lives, using a
method that reflects the pattern in which the asset’s future economic benefits are expected to be consumed by
the Group.
Where an item comprises major components with different useful lives, the components are accounted for as
separate items of property, plant and equipment and depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
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Notes to the

annual financial statements

continued

for the year ended 28 February 2011

1.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1.3

continued

Property, plant and equipment continued
Land is not depreciated.
Methods of depreciation, useful lives and residual values are reviewed annually. If the expectations differ from
the previous estimates, the changes are accounted for as a change in accounting estimates.
The following methods and useful lives were applied during the year, except for land which is non-depreciable:
Item

Method

Useful life

Buildings

Straight-line

30 years

Clay reserves

Utilisation

20 to 70 years

Plant and equipment

Straight-line

8 to 30 years

Furniture and fixtures

Straight-line

8 to 10 years

Motor vehicles

Straight-line

5 to 8 years

Delivery vehicles

Straight-line

5 years

Computer equipment

Straight-line

3 years

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in profit or loss.
Derecognition occurs when an item of property, plant and equipment is disposed of, or when it is no longer
expected to generate any further economic benefits.
The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in
profit or loss when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item.
When a decision is made by the directors that an item of property, plant and equipment will be disposed of,
and the requirements of IFRS 5, Non-Current Assets Held-for-Sale and Discontinued Operations, are met, then
those specific assets will be presented separately on the face of the statement of financial position. The assets will
be measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell, and depreciation on such assets
shall cease.
1.4

Goodwill
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost on acquisition over the Group’s interest of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities.
Subsequently goodwill is carried at cost less any accumulated impairment.
The excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over the cost of the acquisition is immediately recognised in profit or loss.

1.5

Intangible assets
An intangible asset is recognised when:
•

it is probable that future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the Group; and

•

the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.
Research costs are recognised as an expense when they are incurred.
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1.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1.5

continued

Intangible assets continued
Development costs are capitalised when they meet the following criteria:
•

it is technically feasible to complete the asset so that it will be available for use or sale.

•

there is an intention to complete and use or sell it.

•

there is an ability to use or sell it.

•

it will generate probable future economic benefits.

•

there are available technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell
the asset.

•

the expenditure attributable to the asset during its development can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairments.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed every period-end.
Finite useful life intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their useful life. They are only
tested for impairment when an indication of impairment exists.
The following useful lives were applied during the year:

1.6

Item

Useful life

Trade names market-related
Non-contractual customer relationships
Contract-related mining rights
Trademarks

7 years
7 years
28 years
20 years

Impairment of assets
The Group assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is any indication that an asset may be
impaired. If any such indication exists, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.
Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the Group also tests goodwill acquired in a
business combination for impairment annually.
If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual
asset. If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs is determined.
The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and
its value in use.
If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced
to its recoverable amount. That reduction is an impairment.
An impairment of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the cashgenerating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination.
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Notes to the

annual financial statements

continued

for the year ended 28 February 2011

1.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1.6

continued

Impairment of assets continued
An impairment is recognised for cash-generating units if the recoverable amount of the unit is less than the
carrying amount of the unit. The impairment is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the assets of the unit
in the following order:
•

first, to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit; and

•

then, to the other assets of the unit, pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment recognised in
prior periods for assets other than goodwill may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amounts of those assets are estimated.
The increased carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill attributable to a reversal of an impairment does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment been recognised for the
asset in prior periods.
A reversal of an impairment of assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation other than
goodwill is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
1.7

Share capital and equity
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities.
If the Group re-acquires its own equity instruments, those equity shares are deducted from equity. No gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity
instruments. Consideration paid or received shall be recognised directly in equity.
Shares in the Group held by the Share Purchase Trust are classified as treasury shares. The cost of these shares
is deducted from equity. The number of shares held is deducted from the number of issued shares and the
weighted average number of shares used in the determination of earnings per share. Dividends received on
treasury shares are eliminated on consolidation.

1.8

Share-based payments
Goods or services received or acquired in a share-based payment transaction are recognised when the goods
or the services are received. A corresponding increase in equity is recognised if the goods or services were
received in an equity-settled share-based payment transaction or a liability if the goods or services were
acquired in a cash-settled share-based payment transaction.
When the goods or services received or acquired in a share-based payment transaction do not qualify for
recognition as assets, they are recognised as expenses.
For equity-settled share-based payment transactions, the goods or services received are measured, and the
corresponding increase in equity, directly, at the fair value of the goods or services received, unless that fair value
cannot be estimated reliably.
If the fair value of the goods or services received cannot be estimated reliably, their value and the
corresponding increase in equity, indirectly, are measured by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments
granted.

45

Notes to the

annual financial statements

continued

for the year ended 28 February 2011

1.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1.8

continued

Share-based payments continued
For share-based payment transactions in which the terms of the arrangement provide either the entity or the
counterparty with the choice of whether the entity settles the transaction in cash (or other assets) or by issuing
equity instruments, the components of that transaction are recorded, as a cash-settled share-based payment
transaction if, and to the extent that, a liability to settle in cash or other assets has been incurred, or as an
equity-settled share-based payment transaction if, and to the extent that, no such liability has been incurred.

1.9

Financial instruments
Classification
The Group classifies financial assets and financial liabilities into the following categories:
•

Loans and receivables.

•

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – designated.

•

Available-for-sale financial assets.

•

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss – designated.

•

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were obtained/incurred and takes
place at initial recognition. Classification is reassessed on an annual basis, except for derivatives and financial
assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss. This latter category shall not be classified out of the fair
value through profit or loss category.
Initial recognition
The Group classifies the financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a financial
asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangement.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group’s statement of financial position when the
Group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets and liabilities are recognised initially at fair value. In the case of financial assets or liabilities not
classified as at fair value through profit and loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of the financial instrument are added to the fair value.
An asset that is subsequently measured at cost or amortised cost is recognised initially at its fair value on the
trade date.
Any change in the fair value of the asset to be received during the period between the trade date and the
settlement date is not recognised for assets carried at cost or amortised cost, other than impairments.
Subsequent measurement
After initial recognition financial assets are measured as follows:
•

Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised cost less any
impairments recognised to reflect irrecoverable amounts.

•

Financial assets classified as available-for-sale or at fair value through profit or loss, including derivatives,
are measured at fair values. Fair value, for the purpose, is market value if listed, or a value arrived at by
using appropriate valuation models, if unlisted.
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1.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1.9

continued

Financial instruments continued
Subsequent measurement continued
•

Investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose
fair value cannot be reliably measured, are measured at cost.

After initial recognition financial liabilities are measured as follows:
•

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, including derivatives that are liabilities, are
measured at fair value.

•

Other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Gains and losses
A gain or loss arising from a change in a financial asset or financial liability is recognised as follows:
•

Where financial assets and financial liabilities are carried at amortised cost, a gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss through the amortisation process and when the financial asset or financial liability is
derecognised or impaired.

•

A gain or loss on a financial asset or financial liability classified at fair value through profit or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

•

A gain or loss on an available-for-sale financial asset is recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income, until the financial asset is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit and loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment
at each end of the reporting period. Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a
result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future
cash flows of the investment have been impacted.
The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.
The particular recognition methods adopted are disclosed in the individual policies stated below:
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and receivables and are carried at amortised cost less any
impairment. Impairment is determined on a specific basis, whereby each asset is individually evaluated for
impairment indicators. Write-downs of these assets are expensed in profit or loss.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash.
Borrowings
Borrowings are classified as financial liabilities and measured at amortised cost and comprise original debt less
principal payments and amortisation.
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1.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1.9

continued

Financial instruments continued
Directors, managers and employee loans
These financial instruments are classified as loans and receivables and are measured at amortised cost.
Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are classified as financial liabilities and are measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

1.10

Taxation
Current tax assets and liabilities
Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount already
paid in respect of current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess is recognised
as an asset.
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the tax authorities, using the tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred taxation is provided using a statement of financial position liability method on all temporary differences
between the carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.
A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, unless specifically exempt.
A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent that the deferred
tax liability arises from:
•

the initial recognition of goodwill; or

•

goodwill for which amortisation is not deductible for tax purposes; or

•

the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which:
–

is not a business combination; and

–

at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit/(tax loss).

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary difference can be utilised, unless the deferred tax
asset arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit/tax loss.
A deferred tax asset is recognised for the carry forward of unused tax losses and unused credits to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses and unused
credits can be utilised.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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1.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1.10

continued

Taxation continued
Tax expenses
Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense and are included in profit or loss for the
period, except to the extent that the tax arises from:
•

a transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, directly in equity; or

•

a business combination.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited directly to equity if the tax relates to items that are
credited or charged, in the same or a different period, directly to equity.
Secondary tax on companies is accounted for through profit and loss for the period.
1.11

Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
The cost of inventories comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing
the inventories to their present location and condition.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
The cost of inventories is assigned using the weighted average cost formula. The same cost formula is used for
all inventories having a similar nature and use to the entity.
When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in the period
in which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value
and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The
amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories, arising from an increase in net realisable value, is
recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the
reversal occurs.

1.12

Leases as lessee
A lease is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership.
Operating leases – lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The
difference between the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are recognised as an
operating lease liability. This liability is not discounted.
Any contingent rents are expensed in the period they are incurred.
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1.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1.13

continued

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when:
•

the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event;

•

it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation;

•

a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the
obligation.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised. Contingencies are disclosed in note 27.
1.14

Revenue
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions have been satisfied:
•

the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

•

the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with

•

the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

•

it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group; and

•

the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents the amounts
receivable for goods and services provided in the normal course of business, net of trade discounts and volume
rebates, and value-added tax.
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
revenue can be reliably measured.
Gross revenue comprises the invoice value of sales of goods and excludes Value Added Taxation.
1.15

Cost of sales
When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in the period
in which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value
and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The
amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories, arising from an increase in net realisable value, is
recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the
reversal occurs.

1.16

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
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1.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1.17

continued

Employee benefits
Defined contribution plans
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an expense as they fall due.
Payments made to industry-managed (or State plans) retirement benefit schemes are dealt with as defined
contribution plans where the Group’s obligation under the schemes is equivalent to those arising in a defined
contribution retirement benefit plan.
Short-term employee benefits
The costs of short-term employee benefits, (those payable within 12 months after the service is rendered, such
as paid vacation leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits such as medical care), are
recognised in the period in which the service is rendered and are not discounted.
The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services that
increase their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.
The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised as an expense when there is a legal or constructive
obligation to make such payments as a result of past performance.

1.18

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the annual financial statements of the Company and all
entities, including special purpose entities, which are controlled by the Company. In the consolidated statement
of financial position, the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are initially measured
at their fair values at the acquisition date. The results of acquired operations are included in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income from the date on which control is obtained. The financial impact of business
combinations is determined provisionally. In accordance with IFRS 3 the valuations have to be finalised within
twelve months of the acquisition date.
All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.
Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified and recognised separately
from the Group’s interest therein, and are recognised within equity. Losses of subsidiaries attributable to noncontrolling interests are allocated to the non-controlling interest even if this results in a debit balance being
recognised for non-controlling interest.
Transactions which result in changes in ownership levels, where the Group has control of the subsidiary both
before and after the transaction are regarded as equity transactions and are recognised directly in the statement
of changes in equity. The difference between the fair value of consideration paid or received and the
movement in non-controlling interest for such transactions is recognised in equity attributable to the owners of
the parent.
Where a subsidiary is disposed of and a non-controlling shareholding is retained, the remaining investment is
measured to fair value with the adjustment to fair value recognised in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss
on disposal of the controlling interest.
Business combinations
The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting. The cost of the
business combination is measured as the aggregate of the fair values of assets given, liabilities incurred or
assumed and equity instruments issued. Costs directly attributable to the business combination are expensed as
incurred, except the costs to issue debt which are amortised as part of the effective interest and costs to issue
equity which are included in equity.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1.18

continued

Basis of consolidation continued
Business combinations continued
Contingent consideration is included in the cost of the combination at fair value as at the date of acquisition.
Subsequent changes to the assets, liability or equity which arise as a result of the contingent consideration are
not effected against goodwill, unless they are valid measurement period adjustments.
Contingent liabilities are only included in the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquiree where there is a
present obligation at acquisition date.
The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities, which meet the recognition conditions of
IFRS 3 Business Combinations, are recognised at their fair values at acquisition date, except for non-current
assets (or disposal group) that are classified as held-for-sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-Current Assets
Held-For-Sale and Discontinued Operations, which are recognised at fair value less costs to sell.
On acquisition, the Group assesses the classification of the acquiree’s assets and liabilities and reclassifies them
where the classification is inappropriate for Group purposes. This excludes lease agreements and insurance
contracts, whose classification remains as per their inception date.
Non-controlling interest arising from a business combination is measured at its share of the fair value of the
assets and liabilities of the acquiree.
In cases where the Group held a non-controlling shareholding in the acquiree prior to obtaining control, that
interest is measured to fair value as at acquisition date. The measurement to fair value is included in profit or
loss for the year. Where the existing shareholding was classified as an available-for-sale financial asset, the
cumulative fair value adjustments recognised previously to other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity are recognised in profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment.
Goodwill is determined as the consideration paid, plus the fair value of any shareholding held prior to
obtaining control, and less the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquiree.
Goodwill is not amortised but is tested on an annual basis for impairment. If goodwill is assessed to be impaired,
that impairment is not subsequently reversed.

1.19

Segmental reporting
The principal segments of the Group have been identified on a primary basis by geographic segment. The basis
is representative of the internal structure for management purposes.
Segmental results include revenue and expenses directly related to a business segment but exclude net finance
charges and taxation which cannot be allocated to any specific segment. Segmental trading profit is defined as
operating profit excluding items of a capital nature and is the basis on which management’s performance is
assessed.
Segment operating assets and liabilities include property, plant and equipment, investments inventories, trade
and other receivables, trade and other payables, banking assets and liabilities, insurance funds and postretirement obligations but excludes cash, borrowings, current taxation, and deferred taxation.
Intangible assets are allocated to the cash-generating unit in the segment to which they relate.
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2.

NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
2.1

New standards and interpretations adopted by the Group
The Group has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective for the current financial
year and that are relevant to its operations.
The adoption of these amendments has not had a material impact on the results of the Group, but has resulted
in more disclosure than would have previously been provided in the financial statements.
IFRS 2

Share-Based Payments
– Clarification of scope of IFRS 2 and IFRS 3 revised
– Amendments relating to group cash-settled share-based payment transactions – clarity of the
definition of the term “Group” and where in a group share-based payments must be accounted for.

IFRS 3

Business Combinations
– Amendments to accounting for business combinations
– Amendments to transition requirements for contingent consideration from a business combination
that occurred before the effective date of the revised IFRS
– Clarification on the measurement of non-controlling interests
– Additional guidance provided on unreplaced and voluntarily replaced share-based payment
awards

IFRS 5

Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations
– Plan to sell the controlling interest in a subsidiary
– Disclosures of non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale or discontinued
operations

IFRS 8

Operating Segments
– Disclosure of information about segment assets

IAS 1

Presentation of Financial Statements
– Current/non-current classification of convertible instruments

IAS 7

Statement of Cash Flows
– Classification of expenditures on unrecognised assets

IAS 10

Events after the Reporting Period
– Amendment resulting from the issue of IFRIC 17

IAS 17

Leases
– Classification of leases of land and buildings

IAS 21

The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates
– Consequential amendments from changes to Business Combinations

IAS 27

Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
– Consequential amendments from changes to Business Combinations

IAS 32

Financial Instruments: Presentation
– Accounting for rights issues (including rights, options or warrants) that are denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of the issuer

IAS 36

Impairment of Assets
– Unit of accounting for goodwill impairment test
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NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
2.1

2.2
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New standards and interpretations adopted by the Group continued
IAS 38

Intangible Assets
– Additional consequential amendments arising from revised IFRS 3
– Measuring the fair value of an intangible asset acquired in a business combination

IAS 39

Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
– Clarifies two hedge accounting issues:
> Inflation in a financial hedged item;
> A one-sided risk in a hedged item.
– Treating loan prepayment penalties as closely related embedded derivatives
– Scope exemption for business combination contracts
– Cash flow hedge accounting

Standards and interpretations not yet effective and relevant
The Group has not applied the following improved, revised or new standards, interpretations and amendments
that have been issued, but are not yet effective:
Effective date*
IFRS 1

First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards
– Amendment clarifies that changes in accounting policies in the year
of adoption fall outside of the scope of IAS 8

1 January 2011

– Amendment permits the use of revaluation carried out after the date
of transition as a basis for deemed cost
– Amendment permits the use of carrying amount under previous
GAAP as deemed cost for operations subject to rate regulation
IFRS 3

Business Combinations
– Amendments to transition requirements for contingent consideration
from a business combination that occurred before the effective
date of the revised IFRS

1 January 2011

– Clarification on the measurement of non-controlling interests
– Additional guidance provided on unreplaced and voluntarily
replaced share-based payment awards
IFRS 7

IFRS 9

Financial Instruments: Disclosures
– Amendment clarifies the intended interaction between qualitative and
quantitative disclosures of the nature and extent of risks arising from
financial instruments and removed some disclosure items which were
seen to be superfluous or misleading

1 January 2011

– Amendments require additional disclosure on transfer transactions of
financial assets, including the possible effects of any residual risks
that the transferring entity retains. The amendments also require
additional disclosures if a disproportionate amount of transfer
transactions are undertaken around the end of a reporting period

1 July 2011

Financial Instruments
– New standard that forms the first part of a three-part project to
replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement

1 January 2013
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2.

NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
2.2

continued

Standards and interpretations not yet effective and relevant continued
Effective date*
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
– New standard that replaces the consolidation requirements in
SIC12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities and IAS 27
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. Standard builds
on existing principles by identifying the concept of control as the
determining factor in whether an entity should be included within
the consolidated financial statements of the parent company and
provides additional guidance to assist in the determination of control
where this is difficult to assess

1 January 2013

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
– New standard that deals with the accounting for joint arrangements
and focuses on the rights and obligations of the arrangement, rather
than its legal form. Standard requires a single method for accounting
for interests in jointly controlled entities

1 January 2013

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
– New and comprehensive standard on disclosure requirements for all
forms of interests in other entities, including joint arrangements,
associates, special purpose vehicles and other off statement of financial
position vehicles

1 January 2013

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
– New guidance on fair value measurement and disclosure requirements

1 January 2013

IAS 1

Presentation of Financial Statements
– Clarification of statement of changes in equity
– New requirements to group together items within OCI that may be
reclassified to the profit or loss section of the statement of comprehensive
income in order to facilitate the assessment of their impact on the overall
performance of an entity

IAS 24

IAS 27

IAS 34

Related Party Disclosures
– Clarification of the definition of a related party
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
– Transition requirements for amendments arising as a result of
IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

1 January 2013

1 July 2012
1 January 2011

1 July 2010

– Consequential amendments resulting from the issue of
IFRS 10,11 and 12

1 January 2013

Interim Financial Reporting
– Clarification of disclosure requirements around significant events
and transactions including financial instruments

1 January 2011

IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments

1 April 2010

* Effective for annual periods commencing on or after this date

The Group will adopt the above standards, interpretations and amendments on their effective dates. Management
expects that the adoption of the standards listed above will have no material impact on the financial statements in the
period of initial application.
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Accumulated
depreciation
and impairCost
ments
R’000
R’000

3.

Carrying
value
R’000

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
2011
Land and reserves
Buildings
Plant and equipment

87 606
59 905
315 932

(36 792)
(35 077)
(202 590)

50 814
24 828
113 342

Furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles

5 173
37 031

(3 489)
(19 027)

1 684
18 004

505 647

(296 975)

208 672

2010
Land and reserves
Buildings
Plant and equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles

87
57
327
7
38

330
910
728
072
976

519 016
Land
and
reserves
R’000

Plant and
Buildings equipment
R’000
R’000

69 048
–
–
–
(622)
(17 612)

48 442
260
36
4
–
(5
2 646
(2
(2 103) (17
(24 193) (126

Furniture
and
fixtures
R’000

(18
(9
(66
(3
(9

282)
468)
949)
668)
908)

(108 275)

Motor
vehicles
R’000

69
48
260
3
29

048
442
779
404
068

410 741

Total
R’000

Reconciliation of property,
plant and equipment
2011
Carrying value 1 March 2010
Additions
Disposals
Transfers
Depreciation
Impairments
Carrying value 28 February 2011

779
193
043)
433)
288)
866)

3 404
56
(208)
–
(1 068)
(500)

29 068
410
270
4
(650)
(5
(213)
(3 957) (25
(6 514) (175

741
555
901)
–
038)
685)

50 814

24 828

113 342

1 684

18 004

208 672

2010
Carrying value 1 March 2009
Additions
Disposals
Transfers
Reclassification to non-current
assets held for sale
Depreciation
Impairments

90 079
57
(4 303)
–

55 025
176
–
1 015

278 131
11 804
(9)
(1 015)

4 436
121
(5)
–

30 448
2 618
(13)
–

458 119
14 776
(4 330)
–

–
(1 284)
(15 501)

(1 450)
(1 828)
(4 496)

–
(20 331)
(7 801)

–
(1 148)
–

–
(3 985)
–

(1 450)
(28 576)
(27 798)

Carrying value 28 February 2010

69 048

48 442

260 779

3 404

29 068

410 741
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2011
R’000

3.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2010
R’000

continued

Carrying values of encumbered assets:
Land and reserves
Buildings
Plant and equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles

50
24
113
1
18

814
828
342
684
004

69
48
260
3
29

048
442
779
404
068

208 672

410 741

25 193

58 334

183 479

352 407

208 672

410 741

–

3 575

Encumbrances
Subject to instalment sale agreements and loans
(refer note 13)
Land and buildings, plant and equipment and motor vehicles
are encumbered to secure banking financing facilities as
detailed in note 13

Included in plant and equipment are assets constructed by the Group itself.
Expenditure incurred by the Group during the year on such assets is included in
plant and equipment additions to the value of R2 230 759 (2010: R10 599 298).
Depreciation included under land relates to the amortisation of clay and
aggregate reserves which is based on quantum calculations and the remaining
life of the reserves.
Details of the land and buildings
A register containing the information of land and buildings is available for
inspection at the registered office of the Company.
The property in Ballitoville had been reclassified as non-current assets held for
sale in the 2010 financial year. Refer note 5.
Change in accounting estimate
The depreciation charge for 2010 includes an additional R3 574 696 as a result
of changes in estimates of the useful lives and residual value of certain assets,
which became obsolete during that year due to economic circumstances.
Effect of change in accounting estimate:
The following had an effect on the depreciation charge for the prior year:
Net increase in depreciation charge in the statement of comprehensive income
due to re-assessment of useful lives and residual values
This had the effect of a R3 574 696 decrease in the net book value of plant and equipment.
The cumulative effect for current and subsequent periods is that depreciation charges will be reduced by R3 574 696.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

continued

Impairment of assets
The expectation of the future economic viability of certain plant deteriorated to such an extent that management had to
impair those assets to their recoverable amount. Therefore, property, plant and equipment of the Group are impaired by
an amount of R175 684 653 as follows –
In the Brikor Main division carry values of R230 270 537 were impaired with R159 379 545 to recoverable amounts of
R70 891 018. This amount consists of assets at value in use of R12 041 018 and at fair value less cost to sell of
R58 850 000.
In the Stanger division carry values of R60 226 885 were impaired with R16 305 108 to a recoverable amount at fair
value less cost to sell of R43 921 777.
Refer to note 6 regarding impairment of Stanger Brick & Tile property, plant and equipment.
The fair values less costs to sell were based on market values obtained during initial negotiations undertaken by the Group.
Value in use was calculated using a discount rate of 15,2%.
Accumulated
amortisation
and
Cost impairments
R’000
R’000

4.

Carrying
value
R’000

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
2011
Trade names
Non-contractual customer relationships
Mining rights
Trademarks

3 078
3 634
20 439
30

(3 078)
(3 634)
(13 800)
(30)

–
–
6 639
–

27 181

(20 542)

6 639

3 078
3 634
13 800

(410)
(1 038)
(8 094)

2 668
2 596
5 706

30

(3)

27

20 542

(9 545)

10 997

2010
Trade names
Non-contractual customer relationships
Mining rights
Trademarks
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4.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

continued
Noncontractual
Trade
customer
names relationships
R’000
R’000

Mineral
rights
R’000

2 668
–
(206)
(2 462)

5 706
6 639
(212)
(5 494)

Trademarks
R’000

Total
R’000

Reconciliation of
intangible assets
2011
Carrying value 1 March 2010
Additions
Amortisation
Impairments
Carrying value 28 February 2011

2 596
–
(519)
(2 077)

27
–
(2)
(25)

10 997
6 639
(939)
(10 058)

–

–

6 639

–

6 639

Carrying value 1 March 2009
Amortisation
Impairments

2 873
(205)
–

3 115
(519)
–

13 432
(480)
(7 246)

28
(1)
–

19 448
(1 205)
(7 246)

Carrying value 28 February 2010

2 668

2 596

5 706

27

10 997

2010

Refer note 6 for details of impairments on intangible assets.
Refer note 36 regarding the acquisition of the mining rights.
Change in comparatives:
The following definitions of intangible assets were changed for improved clarity:
– Market-related changed to trade names;
– Customer-related changed to non-contractual customer relationships; and
– Contract-related changed to mining rights.

5.

2011
R’000

2010
R’000

–

1 450

NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE
A property in Ballitoville, previously recognised as buildings, is presented as
a non-current asset held for sale, following the commitment by management
of the Group on 22 February 2010, to sell the property.
The property classified in the prior year as a non-current asset held for sale was
sold in the current year on 1 September 2010 for R1 420 864. The decision to
sell the property was made so as to improve the cash flow situation of the Group.
Asset classified as held for sale
Buildings

An impairment of R29 136 was incurred on the sale of the property (2010: impairment of R457 588).
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6.

2011

2010

R’000

R’000

10 825

77 037

GOODWILL
Balance as at 1 March
Additions to goodwill related to business combinations
Goodwill impaired during the year

–
(10 825)

Net carrying value

–

282
(66 494)
10 825

Impairment review
The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be
impaired.
The recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit is determined as the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its
value in use.
Value-in-use calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets for the next year, approved by
management. Cash flows beyond that period are extrapolated using an estimated growth rate of 7% (2010: 7%).
The discount rate of 15,7% is used; this reflects the pre-tax weighted average cost of capital adjusted for relevant risk
factors.
Key assumptions used in value-in-use calculations include budgeted manufacturing and retail revenue streams. Such
results are based on historical results adjusted for anticipated future growth. These assumptions are a reflection of
management’s past experience in the market in which these units operate.
Based on the above assumptions, management’s calculations of recoverable amounts were lower than the carrying
amounts for Stanger Brick & Tile and management believes it prudent to provide for an impairment of R10,825
million (2010: R66,494 million) on the goodwill of the division.
Impairment required for Stanger Brick & Tile exceeded the carrying value of goodwill related to the operating segment
and therefore certain assets were impaired on a pro rata basis. Assets included land and buildings, plant and
equipment, vehicles as well as intangible assets. Refer to note 18 for allocation of impairments. Refer to note 3 for the
impairment of property, plant and equipment and to note 4 for the impairment of intangible assets.
Refer to note 24 for the allocation of impairments between the operating segments.
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7.

2011

2010

R’000

R’000

3 526

2 117

3 526

2 117

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
Held to maturity financial assets
Momentum equity-linked structured finance endowments
The vesting dates of the investment contracts are
1 November 2013 and 1 July 2015.
The endowments have been ceded to First National Bank
for asset finance facilities as detailed in note 13.
Non-current assets

8.

DEFERRED TAX
Deferred tax liability
Comprising:
Purchases of intangible assets
Provisions
Other temporary differences
Excess capital allowances over depreciation
Calculated assessed loss

(843)
4 749
2 444
(13 913)
7 563
–

Reconciliation of deferred tax liability
At beginning of year
Resulting from purchases of intangible assets
Current movement in statement of comprehensive income
Provisions
Capital allowances
Other temporary differences
Calculated assessed loss

5
2
(63
22

–
355
194
800)
597

(33 654)

(33 654)
(843)

(56 300)
–

(606)
49 887
250
(15 034)

1
8
2
10

–

216
776
194
460

(33 654)

Deferred tax asset which relates to assessed losses amounts to R7 562 983 (2010: R22 596 894). The asset is recognised
to the extent that sufficient taxable temporary credits are available which will result in taxable amounts against which the
unused tax losses can be utilised. The unrecognised deferred tax asset amounts to R32 334 200 (2010: Rnil) and will be
recognised again when trading conditions improve, which will make it more probable that future taxable profit will allow
the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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9.

2011

2010

R’000

R’000

INVENTORIES
Raw materials, components
Work-in-progress
Finished goods
Consumables
Pallets

9
10
23
3
3

257
859
834
288
316

12
9
33
5
4

949
924
728
201
265

50 554

66 067

Trade receivables
Less: Provision for impairment

31 948
(6 345)

42 994
(9 639)

Trade receivables – net
Deposits
Staff loans
Other

25 603
1 505
(55)
1 925

33 355
1 056
32
567

28 978

35 010

Credit quality of trade and other receivables
Ageing of past due but not impaired
60 to 90 days
90 to 120 days
Over 120 days – insured receivables
Over 120 days – uninsured receivables

1 290
710
2 480
446

1 236
479
3 264
4 955

Total

4 926

9 934

Inventories were pledged as security for financing facilities as detailed
in note 13.
The amount of inventories recognised as an expense during the year amounted
to R245 243 658 (2010: R241 679 719).
The gross inventories carrying value of finished goods was reduced with
R2 364 381 to R3 332 951 (2010: R6 342 347 to R4 711 186),
being write-downs of inventories to their net realisable values.

10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

There is no material difference between the fair value of receivables and
their book value.
Trade and receivables pledged as security
Trade receivables were pledged as security for overdraft facilities of
R27 000 000 (2010: R25 000 000) of the Group. Refer note 11.
At year-end the overdraft amounted to R26 669 045 (2010: R25 042 131).

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers. No credit rating has been obtained from the bank. Ongoing
credit evaluation is performed on the financial condition of accounts receivable and, where appropriate, credit guarantee
insurance cover is purchased.
Uninsured receivables over 120 days, not deemed recoverable, have been provided for, while certain other receivables
over 120 days have been insured. Receivables not provided for are deemed recoverable.
Two debtors have balances in excess of 5% of the trade receivables balance. The outstanding balances amount to
R2 526 738 and R1 353 316, respectively ( 2010: R5 295 044 and R2 622 755, respectively).
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10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2011

2010

R’000

R’000

9 639
3 903
(7 160)
(37)

1 898
8 089
(348)
–

6 345

9 639

continued

Trade and other receivables impaired
Allowance for doubtful receivables
Balance as at 1 March
Provision for the year
Amounts written off as uncollectable
Reversed in the year on collection of receivables
Balance as at 28 February
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date
is the fair value of each class of trade receivable
mentioned above.

11. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
Cash in hand
Bank balances
Short-term deposits
Overdraft

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Current liabilities
Bank overdraft

39
2 164
4 309
(26 669)

183
3 276
5 010
(25 042)

(20 157)

(16 573)

6 512

8 469

(26 669)

(25 042)

(20 157)

(16 573)

There is no material difference between the fair value of
cash and cash equivalents and their book value.
The total amount of undrawn facilities available for future
operating activities and commitments, excluding guarantees
The overdraft is secured by trade debtors as per note 10.

–

–
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2011

2010

R’000

R’000

100

100

65

64

(2)

(2)

12. SHARE CAPITAL
Authorised
1 000 000 000 ordinary shares of R0,0001 each
(2010: 1 000 000 000 ordinary shares of R0,0001 each)
Issued
645 242 031 ordinary shares of R0,0001 each
(2010: 641 140 308 ordinary shares of R0,0001 each)
Less: 15 900 000 treasury shares held by the Brikor
Share Incentive Scheme

63

62

228 179

227 680

228 242

227 742

641 140

639 640

4 102

1 500

Balance as at 28 February

645 242

641 140

Less: Brikor Share Incentive Scheme – treasury shares

(15 900)

(15 900)

629 342

625 240

Share premium

Unissued ordinary shares are under the control of the
directors in terms of a resolution by members passed at the
last annual general meeting. This authority remains in
force until the next annual general meeting.
Reconciliation of number of shares issued (‘000)
Balance as at 1 March
4 101 723 ordinary shares issued at a premium of R0,12 per share
(2010: 1 500 000 ordinary shares issued at a premium of R0,20 per share)
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2011

2010

R’000

R’000

32 415
92 239

32 434
78 477

124 654

110 911

5 012

5 012

21 499

34 923

151 165

150 846

13. BORROWINGS
Medium-term loans held at amortised cost
Rand Merchant Bank
Existing term facility
Restructured term facility

Existing term facility
The facility bears interest at a rate of 11,87% (2010: 13,69%) and interest is
payable in quarterly instalments of R965 686. The capital portion is repayable
from 15 February 2012 in twelve quarterly instalments of R1 345 092 and a
final payment of R16 141 110.
Restructured term facility
The facility bears interest at a rate of 15,87% (2010:17,19%) per annum.
The capital and interest are repayable in eleven bi-annual instalments of
R13 950 382 commencing on 15 February 2012.
Both facilities are secured by notarial bonds over all movable assets to the
value of R100 000 000 and covering bonds over all properties to the value of
R100 000 000 (note 3), cession of all book debts (note 10), cross suretyships
between Brikor, Donkerhoek Quartzite and Stanger Brick & Tile, negative
pledge of assets as well as the entire holding of Brikor over Donkerhoek
Quartzite and Stanger Brick & Tile.
The Group is currently in breach of financial covenants as set out by Rand
Merchant Bank and therefore the entire outstanding balance of the loan is
classified as current liabilities. Refer to note 31 for an analysis of the maturity
of the loan.
First National Bank
The loan is secured over transport vehicles with a carrying value of
R2 264 931 (2010: R3 647 567). The loan currently bears interest at
13,55% per annum and interest is payable in monthly instalments of
R56 515. The capital portion is repayable in June 2015.
Instalment sale agreements
The instalment sale liabilities are secured by agreements over plant and
equipment, transport and motor vehicles with a carrying value of R22 927 961
(2010: R54 686 416) (refer note 3). They currently bear interest at prime less
1,75% per annum and are repayable in monthly instalments of
R1 486 360 (2010: R1 898 093) over periods ranging from one to five years.
Balance carried forward
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2011

2010

R’000

R’000

151 165

150 846

Loan 1 – G v N Parkin

20 908

18 471

Opening balance
Financing raised
Instalments paid

18 471
2 437
–

5 627
19 700
(6 856)

4 378

–

176 451

169 317

40 328

153 968

136 123

15 349

176 451

169 317

8 562
629
937

8 074
629
937

10 128

9 640

Environmental rehabilitation
Opening balance
Provisions raised
Acquired through purchase of intangible assets
Utilised during the year

8 074
–
488
–

7 750
324
–
–

Closing balance

8 562

8 074

13. BORROWINGS

continued

Balance brought forward
Shareholder loans

The loan is unsecured and bears interest at 7,59% (2010: 7,59%). The loan has
been subordinated in favour of Rand Merchant Bank in terms of the restructured
finance facilities and will be settled subsequent to the settlement of the Rand
Merchant Bank loans. The loan arose to repay debt and facilitate cash flow
requirements.
Loan 2 – G v N Parkin Ilangabi
Brikor obtained an option to purchase the shares of Ilangabi Investments 12
(Pty) Limited from Garnett van Niekerk Parkin by no later than September 2015
at a price of R3 996 263. The liability bears interest at an imputed rate of 12%
per annum. Refer note 36.

Non-current liabilities
At amortised cost
Current liabilities
At amortised cost

There is no material difference between the fair value of other borrowings
and their book value.
In terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation of the Company the borrowing
powers of the directors shall be unlimited.
Repayments within one year will be funded by utilising cash balances and by
future cash inflows.

14. PROVISIONS
Environmental rehabilitation
Social Development Plan
Staff reduction and down-scaling
Total

The provision for environmental obligations for the closure and restoration of land after all excavation activities have ceased
is the present value of the directors’ best estimate based on quantum calculations performed by a geologist employed by
the Group.
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2011
R’000

2010
R’000

Provision: Social Development Plan
Opening balance
Provisions raised
Utilised during the year

629
–
–

550
79
–

Closing balance

629

629

Provision: Staff reduction and down-scaling
Opening balance
Provisions raised
Utilised during the year

937
–
–

4 180
–
(3 243)

Closing balance

937

937

14. PROVISIONS

continued

Socio-Economic Development is an integrated part of Brikor’s Social Development
Plan, governed by the Department of Minerals and Energy.

The provision relates to future implications for the Group as a result of its
excavation operations and is governed by the Department of Minerals
and Energy.

15. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Trade payables
Receipts in advance
Value Added Tax
Other payables

26
8
4
3

511
727
643
641

43 522

23
7
2
6

425
836
716
632

40 609

The book value of trade payables, amounts received in advance, value added
tax and other payables is considered to be in line with their fair value
at the end of the reporting period. The average credit period on purchases is
30 days from the date of statement. The Group has financial risk management
policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the credit timeframe.

16. REVENUE
Clay products
Concrete products
Aggregates
Ancillary products

106
67
30
69

184
279
216
959

93
82
28
75

651
595
898
135

273 638

280 279

–

300

17. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
Termination benefits recognised as an expense (refer note 29)

In 2010, 1 500 000 equity shares were granted at fair value of 20 cents per share, being the listed price on the JSE
Limited.
No dividends were taken into account in the determination of the fair value of the shares.

67

Notes to the

annual financial statements

continued

for the year ended 28 February 2011

2011
R’000

2010
R’000

395

2 981

620
21 465
3 573
939
4 868

936
21 502
7 074
1 205
–

126 866
41 805
–
10 058
7 014
10 825
5 848

7 801
19 539
458
7 246
664
66 494
5 618

1 135
–
–
80 405

783
–
153
81 340

65
344

209
2 554

409

2 763

18. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION
Loss before taxation is stated after:
Income
Profit on sale of fixed assets
Expenses
Operating lease charges:
Equipment – contractual amounts
Depreciation – cost of sales
Depreciation expense
Amortisation expense
Loss on assets scrapped
Impairments relating to:
Plant and equipment
Land and buildings
Buildings classified as non-current assets held for sale
Intangibles
Other assets
Goodwill
Directors’ remuneration (refer note 29)
Auditor’s remuneration
Audit fees
Other services
Costs recovered
Employee costs

19. INTEREST RECEIVED
Interest received measured at amortised cost
Bank
Other loans and receivables

20. FINANCE COSTS
Interest paid measured at amortised cost
Bank overdraft
Other interest
Borrowings
South African Revenue Services

2
3
20
2

575
204
862
491

29 132

2
4
19
1

442
413
526
582

27 963
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2011
R’000

2010
R’000

–
–
–

–
40
–

–

40

21. TAXATION
Major components of the tax expense/income
Current
Local income tax

– current period
– recognised in current tax for prior periods
Secondary tax on companies

Deferred
Calculated assessed loss
Originating and reversing temporary differences

Reconciliation of the tax expense
Reconciliation between applicable tax rate and average effective tax rate:
Applicable tax rate
Exempt income
Disallowable charges
Impairments
Reversal of assessed loss
Capital Gains Tax

15 034
(49 531)

(10 460)
(12 186)

(34 497)

(22 646)

(34 497)

(22 606)

%
(28,0)
(0,1)
0,4
1,2
12,9
–

%
(28,0)
(0,6)
0,3
12,7
–
0,3

(13,6)

(15,3)

(253 451)

(146 983)

22. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS
Loss before taxation
Adjustments for:
Depreciation, amortisation and impairments
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment
Net interest received and finance costs
Movement in provisions
Share-based payments (refer note 17)

227 414
(395)
28 723
–
–

131
(2
25
(2

983
981)
207
840)
300

Changes in working capital:
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables

15 513
6 032
2 913

11 270
14 100
1 143

Net cash inflow from operating activities

26 749

31 199
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2011
R’000

2010
R’000

23. TAX PAID
Balance at beginning of year
Current tax for year recognised in statement of comprehensive income
Interest
Balance at end of year

(15 912)
–
(2 491)
15 063

(14 595)
(40)
(1 582)
15 912

(3 340)

(305)

24. SEGMENTAL REPORTING
Segment revenues and results
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results from operations by reportable segments.
Segment profit reconciliation
Brikor
Main
R’000

Brikor
Stanger
R’000

Brikor
Donkerhoek
R’000

Total
R’000

175 686

72 357

25 595

273 638

(27 028)
(159 405)

(2 944)
(37 163)

1 812
–

(28 160)
(196 568)

(186 433)

(40 107)

1 812

(224 728)
409
(29 132)

2011
Revenue
Operating (loss)/profit before
impairments
Impairments
Operating (loss)/profit before interest
and taxation
Interest received
Finance costs
Loss before taxation
Taxation

(253 451)
34 497

Total comprehensive loss

(218 954)

Segment assets and liabilities
Segment assets
Segment current liabilities

206 951
201 074

61 828
12 849

36 102
7 454

304 881
221 377

20 807
4 047

4 385
347

783
161

25 975
4 555

Other segment information
Depreciation and amortisation included
in cost of sales and operating expenditure
Additions to non-current assets
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24. SEGMENTAL REPORTING

continued
Brikor
Main
R’000

Brikor
Stanger
R’000

Brikor
Donkerhoek
R’000

Total
R’000

Revenue

164 013

97 034

19 232

280 279

Operating (loss)/profit before impairments
Impairments

(25 061)
(28 891)

10 720
(18 645)

(5 240)
(54 666)

(19 581)
(102 202)

Operating loss before interest and
taxation
Interest received

(53 952)

(7 925)

(59 906)

(121 783)
2 763

2010

Finance costs

(27 963)

Loss before taxation
Taxation

(146 983)
22 606

Total comprehensive loss

(124 377)

Segment assets and liabilities
Segment assets
Segment current liabilities
Other segment information
Depreciation and amortisation included
in cost of sales and operating expenditure
Additions to non-current assets

403 603
79 316

107 277
6 593

34 796
11 003

545 676
96 912

22 579
11 744

5 197
715

2 005
2 317

29 781
14 776

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 1.
Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment without allocation of finance costs and income tax expense.
This is the measure reported to the chief operating decision-maker for the purposes of assessment of segment performance.
Revenue reported relates to external customers only and no revenues are obtained from other operating segments. No
single customer exists upon which the Group is significantly dependent on for revenue and revenue is derived solely from
the South African customers.
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between segments:
• all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than goodwill and intangibles and tax assets.
• all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than non-current and deferred tax liabilities.
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2011
R’000

2010
R’000

25. LOSSES AND FULLY DILUTED LOSSES
PER ORDINARY SHARE
The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to the ordinary
equity holders is based on the following information:
Losses
Basic loss
Impairment of goodwill
Impairment of assets
Profits/(losses) on the sale of fixed assets
Headline loss

(218 954)
10 825
166 187
284

(124
66
25
(2

377)
494
710
147)

(41 658)

(34 320)

(218 954)

(124 377)

Diluted headline loss

(41 658)

(34 320)

Number of shares (‘000)
The weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
during the year

627 274

624 657

15 900

15 900

643 174

640 557

Diluted loss
Diluted basic loss

Possible share increase through the release of shares to the
participants of the Brikor Share Incentive Scheme
Diluted weighted average number of shares
Basic loss per share (cents)
Headline loss per share (cents)
Fully diluted loss per share (cents)
Fully diluted headline loss per share (cents)

(34,9)
(6,6)
(34,0)
(6,5)

(19,9)
(5,5)
(19,4)
(5,4)

322
453
–

228
41
–

1 368
10 045
50
100

1 368
10 045
50
100

11 563

11 563

26. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
Authorised capital expenditure
There has been no capital expenditure authorised or contracted for in the
current year (2010: Nil).
Operating leases – as lessee
Minimum lease payments due:
– within one year
– in second to fifth year inclusive
– later than five years
Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of
its plant and equipment. Leases are negotiated for an average term of three
to five years. No contingent rent is payable.

27. CONTINGENCIES
Guarantees in favour of the following have been provided:
Eskom – Creditor guarantee
Department of Minerals and Energy – Mining rehabilitation
Transnet Limited – Creditor guarantee
NPC Cimpor (Pty) Limited – Creditor guarantee
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28. RELATED PARTIES
Relationships

Related director

Entities controlled by directors
Cavaletto 45 (Pty) Limited
Cyndara 113 (Pty) Limited
E-Fuel (Pty) Limited
Ilangabi Investments 12 (Pty) Limited
Kuvula Trade 40 (Pty) Limited
Leomega (Pty) Limited
Scarlett Sun 33 (Pty) Limited
Vecto Trade 449 (Pty) Limited

H Botha
G v N Parkin
G v N Parkin
G v N Parkin
G Parkin
G v N Parkin
G v N Parkin
G v N Parkin
Nature of goods
and services
purchased or sold

Related party balances
Loan accounts – owing (to)/by related parties
Brikor Share Purchase Trust
Shareholder’s loan (refer note 13)
Amounts included in trade receivables/
(trade payables) regarding related parties
E-Fuel (Pty) Limited
Cavaletto 45 (Pty) Limited
Kuvula Trade 40 (Pty) Limited
Vecto Trade 449 (Pty) Limited
Scarlett Sun 33 (Pty) Limited
Kuvula Trade 40 (Pty) Limited
Vecto Trade 449 (Pty) Limited
Leomega (Pty) Limited
Cyndara 113 (Pty) Limited
Related party transactions
Interest paid
G v N Parkin

G v N Parkin – loan no 2
Purchases from related parties
Ilangabi Investments 12 (Pty) Limited
E-Fuel (Pty) Limited
Vecto Trade 449 (Pty) Limited
Kuvula Trade 40 (Pty) Limited
Scarlett Sun 33 (Pty) Limited
Cavaletto 45 (Pty) Limited
Leomega (Pty) Limited
Cyndara 113 (Pty) Limited
Sales to related parties
E-Fuel (Pty) Limited
Kuvula Trade 40 (Pty) Limited
Cavaletto 45 (Pty) Limited
Scarlett Sun 33 (Pty) Limited
Vecto Trade 449 (Pty) Limited
Cyndara 113 (Pty) Limited

Diesel
Transport
Transport
Transport
Deposit for bricks
and aggregates
Transport
Transport
Aggregates screens
Rental

2011
R’000

2010
R’000

–
(25 286)

–
(18 471)

–
(35)
(144)
(51)

–
(68)
(77)
(747)

(3 765)
35
–
(2)
(58)

(2 048)
16
315
–
–

On loan account – 2011
On loan account – 2010
(retrospective correction)
Imputed interest

1 490
947

–
–

382

–

Mining rights
Diesel
Transport
Transport
Construction outsourced
Transport
Aggregates screens
Engineering

6 639
–
13 036
2 074
54
855
13
191

–
204
17 140
1 769
565
845
–
–

Diesel
Diesel
Diesel
Bricks and aggregates
Diesel
Rental

3
420
224
688
2 362
258

47
345
177
760
422
–

All transactions with related parties are carried out at arm’s length in the normal course of business.
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Basic
R’000

Motor
allowance
R’000

Medical
aid
R’000

Provident
fund
R’000

Termination
benefits
R’000

Total
R’000

2 108
1 367
1 195
470

–
150
–
159

6
6
6
6

96
63
55
19

–
–
–
–

2 210
1 586
1 256
654

–
93
15
34

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

–
93
15
34

5 282

309

24

233

–

5 848

2 108
313
1 075
324
834

–
45
120
146
78

6
2
6
6
–

96
15
49
14
17

–
–
–
–
300

2 210
375
1 250
490
1 229

–
–
64

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
64

4 718

389

20

191

300

5 618

29. DIRECTORS’
EMOLUMENTS
2011
Executive directors
G v N Parkin
W Kruger
H Botha
G Parkin
Non-executive
directors
E Chimombe-Munyoro*4 *8
E Grobbelaar*5
R van Rooyen*6
JH Wood*7

2010
Executive directors
G v N Parkin
W Krüger*3
H Botha
G Parkin
AF Cronje*1
Non-executive
directors
E Chimombe-Munyoro*8
EG Dube*2 *8
E Grobbelaar

In 2010, as part of the resignation of the director, AF Cronje, a termination benefit in the form of ordinary shares was
issued to the value of R300 000 (refer note 17).
*1 Resigned on 8 June 2009
*2 Resigned on 29 October 2009
*3 Appointed on 20 November 2009
*4 Resigned on 15 March 2011
*5 Resigned on 18 March 2011
*6 Appointed on 21 January 2011
*7 Appointed on 21 January 2011
*8 Non-executive directors representing a shareholder are not remunerated
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30. RETIREMENT FUND
Defined contribution plan
The policy of the Group is to provide retirement benefits to its employees. The Group is a member of an umbrella fund, The
Funds at Work Provident Fund. The fund is administered by Momentum and governed by the Pension Funds Act
of 1956.
The contributions paid by the Group to fund obligations for the payment of retirement benefits are charged against the
statement of comprehensive income as and when incurred. The Group contributed R2 402 296 (2010: R2 713 773) for
the year under review; 553 (2010: 703) employees are members of The Funds at Work Provident Fund.
2011

2010

R’000

R’000

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS: INFORMATION
ON FINANCIAL RISKS
The Group is exposed to credit, liquidity and market risks from the use of
financial instruments in the normal course of its business.
This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the
above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring
and managing risk, and the Group’s management of capital. Further
quantitative disclosures are included throughout these financial statements.
The Board of Directors has the overall responsibility for the establishment and
oversight of the Group’s risk management framework.
The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and
analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and
controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. These policies and
systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and
activities.
The following table summarises the carrying amount of financial assets and
liabilities recorded at 28 February 2011 by IAS 39 category:
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Measured at amortised cost:
– Investments held to maturity
– Trade and other receivables

6 512

8 469

3 526
28 978

2 117
35 010

Balance as at 28 February

39 016

45 596

Financial liabilities
Measured at amortised cost:
– Borrowings
– Trade and other payables
– Bank overdraft

176 451
43 522
26 669

169 317
40 609
25 042

Balance as at 28 February

246 642

234 968
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS: INFORMATION ON FINANCIAL RISKS
continued
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.
Specific actions have been taken by the Group through the restructuring programme to ensure that sufficient liquidity is
available to meets its liabilities when due.
This is done through ongoing review of future commitments and cash flow forecasts.
The table below analyses the Groups financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period
from the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within twelve months equal their carrying values as the impact of discounting is not
significant.

As at 28 February 2011
Secured borrowings
Unsecured borrowings
Trade and other payables
Bank overdraft

As at 28 February 2010
Secured borrowings
Unsecured borrowings
Trade and other payables
Bank overdraft

Less than
one year

Between
two and
five years

More than
five years

11 521
–
43 522
26 669

114 644
4 378
–
–

25 000
20 908
–
–

81 712

119 022

45 908

15 349
–
40 609
25 042

98 748
–
–
–

36 749
18 471
–
–

81 000

98 748

55 220

The secured borrowings are disclosed as per the contract with RMB, however, the loan is disclosed as a current liability in
the statement of financial position due to the breach of covenants.
The carrying amount of the financial liabilities is considered to be in line with the fair value at the reporting date.
At present the Group does expect to pay all liabilities at their contractual maturity. In order to meet such cash
commitments the Group expects the operating activity to generate sufficient cash inflows. In addition, the Group holds
financial assets for which there is a liquid market and that are readily available to meet liquidity needs.
At the reporting date there were undrawn borrowing facilities of Rnil available for operating activities.
The Financial Director provides the Board with a schedule showing the maturity of financial liabilities and unused
borrowing facilities to assist the Board in monitoring liquidity risk.
Interest rate risk
Financial assets and liabilities that are sensitive to interest rate risk are cash and cash equivalents, bank overdrafts, loans
receivable, borrowings and payables. The interest applicable to these financial instruments are on a floating basis in line
with those currently available in the market.
Sensitivity analysis
A hypothetical increase in interest rates by 100 basis points, with all other variables remaining constant, would decrease
profit after tax by R1 113 589 (2010: R899 092).
The analysis has been performed for floating interest rate financial liabilities and cash. The impact of a change in interest
rates on floating interest rate financial liabilities has been assessed in terms of changing of their cash flows and therefore
in terms of the impact on net expenses.
The Group does not have any fair value sensitivity in respect of fixed rate instruments as at the reporting date.
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS: INFORMATION ON FINANCIAL RISKS
continued
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its
contractual obligations and arises principally from the Group’s trade receivables, loans made and cash and cash
equivalents.
The Group only deposits cash with major banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one
counterparty.
Trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Management evaluates credit risk relating to customers on an
ongoing basis and utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored. Credit guarantee insurance is purchased when deemed
appropriate. Refer to note 10 for details on the quality and provision for impairment of trade receivables.
The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying value of each financial asset in the statement of
financial position.
The allowance for impairments represents an estimate of incurred losses in respect of trade debtors. The components of this
allowance relates to individual significant exposures, and a collective loss component in respect of losses that have been
incurred but not yet identified, based on historical trends and current economic conditions.
Fair values
Cash and short-term investments
The carrying amount approximates fair value because of the short maturity of those instruments.
Trade and other receivables/payables
The fair value of trade and other receivables/payables is estimated at its carrying value as these instruments are
short-term in nature and thus the carrying amount approximates fair value.
Capital management
The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence to
sustain the future development of the business. The Board of Directors monitors the return on capital, which the Group
defines as total capital and reserves, and the level of dividends to ordinary shareholders.
The Group did not meet the objectives, mainly due to adverse market conditions. Consequently, the Board has
implemented an integrated programme to enhance revenue, improve productivity, reduce costs and optimise working
capital. The programme will be monitored by the restructuring officer with fortnightly reports to the Board.
Refer to note 12 for a quantitative summary of authorised and issued capital.

32. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
Sale of assets
Some transport vehicles and redundant equipment were sold on auction on 17 May 2011 for a total consideration of
R9 658 000. A loss of R62 000 was realised.
Negotiations are continuing regarding the sale of certain assets in line with Brikor’s strategy to strengthen the Group’s cash
resources and improve its current debt position. These are subject to various conditions precedent which are
customary in transactions of this nature, inter alia, shareholders’ and other regulatory approvals.
Dividend policy
Having regard to the losses incurred for the year ended 28 February 2011, the Board has considered the Company’s
dividend policy and has resolved not to declare a dividend.
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33. DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SHARES
Beneficial
Name of director

Direct

Indirect

Total

389 372 945
150 000
–

–
–
100 000

389 372 945
150 000
100 000

–

130 000 000

130 000 000

389 522 945

130 100 000

519 622 945

389 372 945
150 000
–

–
–
100 000

389 372 945
150 000
100 000

–

130 000 000

130 000 000

389 522 945

130 100 000

519 622 945

2011
Executive:
G v N Parkin
G Parkin
H Botha and associates
Non-executive:
E Chimombe-Munyoro and associates

2010
Executive:
G v N Parkin
G Parkin
H Botha and associates
Non-executive:
E Chimombe-Munyoro and associates

The Company has not been advised of any changes in the above interest of the directors between the year-end and the
date of this report.
2011
R’000

2010
R’000

Shares acquired by the Brikor Share Incentive Scheme during the year
Unallocated scheme shares as at 1 March
Plus: Purchase offers cancelled

–
11 028 000
816 000

–
10 856 000
172 000

Unallocated scheme shares

11 844 000

11 028 000

34. BRIKOR SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME
A share purchase scheme exists to provide employees of the Group the opportunity
to purchase shares in the capital of the Company so as to give such employees the
incentive to advance in the interest of the Group for the ultimate benefit of
all the stakeholders in the Group.
The maximum ordinary shares so held may not exceed 20% of the
ordinary share capital of the Company.

No shares were purchased by directors under the Brikor Share Incentive Scheme during the current financial year (2010: Nil).
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35. GOING CONCERN
The annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going
concern. This basis presumes that the necessary funds will be available to finance future operations and that the
realisation of the sale of assets, settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary
course of business.
The ability of the Group to continue as a going concern is dependent on several factors, including profitable operations,
the sale of certain assets and the continued support of the Group’s financiers and creditors.
The statement of comprehensive income indicates that the Group has incurred a loss of R219 million for the year ended
28 February 2011. Included in this loss are finance costs amounting to R29,1 million, impairments of R196,6 million and
bad debts written off of R7,2 million.
As a result of the attributable comprehensive loss for the year ended 28 February 2011, as well as that of prior years,
coupled with the current macro-economic climate, the directors have entered into a comprehensive restructuring
programme to restore operations to profitability, and to strengthen the Group’s financial position.
To execute the different activities of the restructuring plan, the Board appointed a Chief Restructuring Officer (“CRO”) on
26 June 2011. The CRO will facilitate the restructuring process and play an important role, together with the Board and
management, to successfully implement and execute this critically important initiative of the Company.
The restructuring programme includes inter alia:
Internal restructuring
•

Reduce operating expenses to the historical level of no more than 12% of revenue by:
–
–
–

reducing the staff complement to support its core operations at its Nigel plants;
re-assessing all operating expenses (including salaries and wages); and
re-assessing all overhead costs.

•

The above reduction should result in an estimated saving of R11 million per annum and was completed on
31 May 2011 – the financial benefit of which is expected to materialise from June 2011 onwards.

•

An assessment of all costs related to the manufacturing process was conducted and the implementation of costsaving measures on items such as labour, transport and materials will have an estimated impact of R30 million on
FY 2012.

Mothballed operations
•
•
•

Current market prices, high production costs and high logistics costs necessitated the mothballing of some
operations.
Production at certain plants was stopped in October 2010 and April 2011.
The estimated cost-saving due to the mothballing of these plants is R50 million.

Sale of Stanger Brick & Tile
•

Brikor has entered into a sale agreement with the parties to the sale of the business of Stanger Brick & Tile on
11 March 2011, subject to certain conditions precedent.

Sale of surplus or redundant assets
•

Some transport vehicles and redundant equipment were sold on auction on 17 May 2011 for a total
consideration of R9 million.

Logistics
•

To improve transport efficiencies, a strategy was formulated that outsources Brikor’s transport requirement to
sub-contractors.

•

Financial flexibility and a reduction in transport-related expenses of R4 million will be provided through the
utilisation of sub-contractors.

Coal plant
•

Brikor’s coal operations will contribute to the profitability of the Group and management at the coal plant will be
strengthened to optimise the potential of the coal operations.
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Debt restructuring
•

Brikor plans to reduce its high debt and financing costs levels.

Cash flow management
•

The CRO will oversee the preparation and management of a rolling quarterly cash flow to be submitted to the
Board. The Board will report to shareholders as and when required on the cash flow situation and any other
significant deviations or variances in respect of the restructuring plans in place.

Based on the Group’s restructuring plans being successfully executed and implemented, budgets and cash flow forecasts
for the ensuing year, (which are based on the current expected economic and market conditions), and the continued
support of the Group’s financiers (who remain fully apprised of the Group’s results, liquidity challenges, future business and
contingency plans), the directors believe that the Company and the Group have adequate financial resources to continue
as a going concern during the ensuing year. Accordingly, the directors have adopted the going concern basis in
preparing the annual financial statements.
2011
R’000

2010
R’000

36. ACQUISITION OF MINING RIGHTS
In order to extract the benefits of the properties Hondsrivier and Schietpoort,
Brikor obtained the mining rights to the properties as follows:
The mining rights were owned by Ilangabi Investments 12 (Pty) Limited, which was
controlled by Garnett van Niekerk Parkin. Brikor obtained 31% of the shares from
the Ilangabi non-controlling shareholders for R1 800 000 as well as an option to
acquire the remaining shares from G v N Parkin. According to the terms of the
option the economic rights and benefits derived from the mining rights held by
Ilangabi Investments 12 (Pty) Limited are deemed to accrue for the benefit of
Brikor from 30 September 2010. On the exercise of the option, at any time on
or before 27 September 2015, Brikor will pay R1 200 000 for the shares
and the nominal value of claims, which amounted to R3 356 299 on the
effective date. In substance Brikor has acquired the mining rights from
30 September 2010 and because the entity is under common control, IFRS 3
with regard to the value of the mining rights was not applied. The carry value
of the mining rights represents the costs incurred to obtain those rights.
The financial position of Ilangabi Investments 12 (Pty) Limited on the reporting date
is as follows:
Mining rights
Cash
Rehabilitation provision
Deferred tax

6 639
488
(488)
(842)

–
–
–
–

Net assets acquired

5 797

–

Consideration paid
Cash
Shares issued

5 297
500

–
–

5 797

–

5 297
(488)

–
–

4 809

–

Net cash outflow on acquisition
Cash consideration paid
Cash acquired
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Share
capital
R

Effective
holding
2011
2010
%
%

Investment
2011
2010
R’000
R’000

Amount
owing
by subsidiaries
2011
R’000

37. SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS
IN SUBSIDIARIES
Stanger Brick & Tile (Pty) Limited*1
Hanis Investments (Pty) Limited*1
Natal Sand Supplies (Pty) Limited*1
Tugela Ready Mix (Pty) Limited*1
Stanbrik Roof Tiles (Pty) Limited*1
Impala Construction Supplies
(Pty) Limited*1
Zululand Quarries (Pty) Limited*1
Donkerhoek Quartzite (Pty) Limited*1

10
6

100
100

100
100

10
6

10
6

–
–

100
100
100

100
100
100

100
100
100

100
100
100

100
100
100

–
–
–

100
102
4 000

100
100
100

100
100
100

100
102
4 000

100
102
4 000

–
–
–

* Main business
1

Dormant

38. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE HOLDING COMPANY
The Group annual financial statements also represents the financial position, the financial performance and the cash
flows of Brikor Limited, as all its subsidiaries are dormant.
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Analysis of shareholding
as at 28 February 2011

SHAREHOLDER SPREAD

Number of
shareholders

%

1 – 1 000 shares
1 001 – 10 000 shares
10 001 – 100 000 shares
100 001 – 1 000 000 shares
1 000 001 shares and over

169
249
186
63
25

24,43
35,98
26,88
9,10
3,61

692

100,00

Number of
DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDERS

SHAREHOLDERS

054
968
174
002
833

0,01
0,19
1,20
2,92
95,68

645 242 031

100,00

1
7
18
617

77
188
763
837
375

%

Number of

shareholders

%

shares

%

15
621
35
2
17
1
1

2,17
89,74
5,06
0,29
2,46
0,14
0,14

2 363 260
442 561 835
46 272 555
20 800
138 122 381
1 200
15 900 000

0,37
68,59
7,17
–
21,41
–
2,46

692

100,00

645 242 031

100,00

Close Corporations
Individuals
Nominees & Trusts
Other Corporations
Private Companies
Public Company
Share Trust

PUBLIC / NON-PUBLIC

Number of
shares

Number of

Number of

shareholders

%

shares

%

Non-public shareholders

6

0,86

535 522 945

83,00

Directors and associates of the
Company holdings
Share Trust
Strategic holdings

4
1
1

0,58
0,14
0,14

389 622 945
15 900 000
130 000 000

60,39
2,46
20,15

686

99,14

109 719 086

17,00

692

100,00

645 242 031

100,00

Public shareholders

Beneficial shareholders
holding 5% or more
Parkin, G v N
Anchor Park Inv 42 (Pty) Limited – strategic holding
Elgar Share Trust

Number of
shares

%

356 948 768
130 000 000
32 424 177

55,32
20,15
5,03
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Shareholders’ diary

Financial year-end
Publication of results for the year ended 28 February 2011 on SENS

28 February 2011
31 May 2011

Mailing of annual report

31 August 2011

No change statement published on SENS

31 August 2011

Record date for the purpose of determining which shareholders are entitle to receive
the notice of annual general meeting to be held on 26 October 2011

5 October 2011

Record date on which members must be recorded as such in the register maintained by
the transfer secretaries of the Company for the purpose of being entitled to attend and
vote at the annual general meeting to be held on 26 October 2011

21 October 2011

Proxy forms to be lodged with transfer secretaries

24 October 2011

Annual general meeting

26 October 2011

Results of the annual general meeting published on SENS

26 October 2011
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Notice of annual general meeting

BRIKOR LIMITED

Reason for and effect

(“Brikor” or “the Company” or “the Group”)

The reason for and effect of special resolution number 1 is

Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa

to grant the Company the authority to pay fees to its non-

Registration number: 1998/013247/06

executive directors for their services as directors, in line with

JSE code: BIK

the recommendations of the King Code of Governance for

ISIN: ZAE000101945

South Africa 2009 (“King III”) and the Act.

Notice is hereby given that the 2011 annual general meeting
of shareholders of Brikor Limited will be held at Oppiedam,
Balfour Road R550, Nigel on Wednesday, 26 October 2011
at 10:00. The date for the purpose of determining which
shareholders are entitled to receive this notice was
Wednesday, 5 October 2011.

Not less than 75% (seventy-five percent) majority of the votes
cast by shareholders present or represented by proxy at the
annual general meeting must be cast in favour of this special
resolution for it to be approved.

SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 2
Approval of directors’ emoluments

The record date on which members must be recorded as such
in the register maintained by the transfer secretaries of the
Company for the purposes of being entitled to attend and vote
at the meeting is Friday, 21 October 2011.
All meeting participants will be required to provide
identification reasonably satisfactory to the chairman of the
meeting.

“RESOLVED THAT the directors’ emoluments for the year,
which are set out in note 29 on page 73, be approved.”
Reason for and effect
The reason for and effect of special resolution number 2 is to
approve the remuneration to be paid to the directors of the
Company for their services as directors as required by section
66(9) of the Act.

On 1 May 2011 the Companies Act, No 71 of 2008 came
into effect (“the Act”) and the Company’s Memorandum and

SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 3

Articles of Association (“MAA”) automatically converted into

Authority to provide financial assistance to

the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation (“MoI”).

subsidiary companies

Accordingly, all references made in this notice to the
Company’s MoI refer to the provisions of that portion of the
Company’s MAA.

“RESOLVED THAT in accordance with section 45 of the Act,
the provision of any financial assistance by the Company to
any subsidiary company of Brikor (as defined in the Act), on

The purpose of the meeting is to transact the business set out

the terms and conditions which the directors may determine,

below and to consider and, if deemed fit, to pass, with or

be and is hereby approved.”

without modification, the resolutions set out below:

Reason and effect of the special resolution

SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 1

In terms of the Act which took effect on 1 May 2011, the

Approval of non-executive directors’ fees

Board may authorise the Company to provide any financial
assistance to subsidiary companies which are Group

“RESOLVED THAT the remuneration of the non-executive

companies, where it believes it would be beneficial to the

directors of the Company for the 2012 financial year be

Company to do so in future, subject to certain requirements

approved as a special resolution in terms of section 66 of the

set out in the Act, including the Company meeting solvency

Act, as follows:

and liquidity tests.
This general authority is necessary for the Company to

Board members
Chairman

R150 000 per annum

continue making loans to subsidiaries as well as granting

Member

R120 000 per annum

letters

support

and

guarantees

in

appropriate

circumstances. A general authorisation from shareholders

Sub-committee members
Chairman

R7 500 per meeting

Member

R5 000 per meeting

Consulting fees approved by
the Board:

of

avoids the need to refer each instance to shareholders for
approval with the resulting time delays and expense. If
approved, this general authority will expire at the end of two
years. It is, however, the intention to renew the

R1 000 per hour.”

authority annually at the annual general meeting.
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Notifications

Ordinary resolution number 2.1

Shareholders are hereby notified in terms of Section 45(5) of

Appointment of Ms RJ Magoele as an independent non-

the Act that the Board has passed the same resolution to take

executive director

effect on the passing of this special resolution by
shareholders.
Shareholders are also advised that the Board is satisfied that

“RESOLVED THAT Ms RJ Magoele be and is hereby elected as
an independent non-executive director of the Company.”

after providing the financial assistance, the Company will

Ordinary resolution number 2.2

satisfy the solvency and liquidity tests and that the terms under

Appointment of Mr R Van Rooyen as an independent non-

which the financial assistance is proposed to be given are fair
and reasonable to the Company.
In terms of the Act, 75% of the votes cast by shareholders
present or represented by proxy at the meeting must be cast
in favour of this resolution for it to be adopted.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 1
Approval of annual financial statements

executive director
“RESOLVED THAT Mr R Van Rooyen be and is hereby
elected as an independent non-executive director of the
Company and as Chairman of the Board.”
Ordinary resolution number 2.3
Appointment of Mr JH Wood as an independent nonexecutive director

“To receive, consider and adopt the annual financial
statements for the year ended 28 February 2011 together
with the reports of the auditors and directors.”
Not less than 50% (fifty percent) plus 1 (one) vote majority of

“RESOLVED THAT Mr JH Wood be and is hereby elected as
an independent non-executive director of the Company.”
Ordinary resolution number 2.4

the votes cast by shareholders present or represented by

Appointment of Mr NM Anderson as a non-executive

proxy at this annual general meeting must be cast in favour

director

of this resolution for it to be approved.

“RESOLVED THAT Mr NM Anderson be and is hereby

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 2

elected as a non-executive director of the Company.”

Appointment of directors

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 3

Ms RJ Magoele and Messrs R Van Rooyen, JH Wood and

Appointment of the Audit Committee members

NM Anderson have been appointed by the Board of directors

for the year ending 28 February 2012

of the Company to the Board and are nominated for election
by shareholders as directors of the Company.

“RESOLVED THAT, subject to the passing of ordinary
resolutions 2.1, 2.2, 2.3 and 2.4, the following directors be

Accordingly, shareholders are requested to consider and, if

elected, each by way of a separate vote, as member of the

deemed fit, to re-elect RJ Magoele, R Van Rooyen, JH Wood

Audit Committee of the Company until the conclusion of the

and NM Anderson and to confirm the appointment of those

next annual general meeting of the Company in 2012:

directors appointed by the Board as directors of the Company
by way of passing the separate ordinary resolutions set out

3.1

Ms RJ Magoele (Chairman);

below:

3.2

Mr R van Rooyen (Member);

3.3

Mr JH Wood (Member); and

3.4

Mr NM Anderson (Member).

Not less than 50% (fifty percent) plus 1 (one) vote majority of
the votes cast by shareholders present or represented by
proxy at this annual general meeting must be cast in favour

Brief CVs of the abovementioned directors appear on pages

of this resolution for it to be approved.

6 and 7 of the annual report.
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Not less than 50% (fifty percent) plus 1 (one) vote majority of

to the provisions of the Act, the Memorandum of

the votes cast by shareholders present or represented by

Incorporation of the Company and the JSE Listings

proxy at this annual general meeting must be cast in favour

Requirements, when applicable, such authority to remain in

of this resolution for it to be approved.

force until the next annual general meeting.”

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 4

Not less than 50% (fifty percent) plus 1 (one) vote majority of

Ratifying additional fee payment to the
Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee for
the 2011 financial year
“To ratify that a further amount of R29 000 was paid as fees
to the Independent Non-Executive Director and Chairman of
the Audit and Risk Committee for the 2011 financial year.”

the votes cast by shareholders present or represented by
proxy at this annual general meeting must be cast in favour
of this resolution for it to be approved.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 7
General authority to issue shares for cash
“RESOLVED THAT the directors of the Company be and they

Not less than 50% (fifty percent) plus 1 (one) vote majority of

are hereby authorised by way of a general authority, to issue

the votes cast by shareholders present or represented by

all or any of the authorised but unissued shares in the capital

proxy at this annual general meeting must be cast in favour

of the Company, for cash, as and when they in their

of this resolution for it to be approved.

discretion deem fit, subject to the Act, the Memorandum of

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 5

Incorporation of the Company, the Listings Requirements of
the JSE Limited (“JSE”), when applicable, and the following

Appointment of auditors and appointment of

limitations, namely that:

designated audit partner for the year
ending 28 February 2012

•

“RESOLVED THAT the appointment of KPMG, Registered

not the case, must be limited to such securities or rights

Auditors, as independent auditors of the Company, the

that are convertible into a class already in issue;

designated audit partner being Hendrik van Heerden, for the
following year be confirmed.”

•

related parties, unless the JSE otherwise agrees;

the votes cast by shareholders present or represented by
of this resolution for it to be approved.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 6

any such issue will only be made to “public shareholders”
as defined in the JSE Listings Requirements and not

Not less than 50% (fifty percent) plus 1 (one) vote majority of
proxy at this annual general meeting must be cast in favour

the equity securities which are the subject of the issue for
cash must be of a class already in issue, or where this is

•

the number of shares issued for cash shall not in the
aggregate in any one financial year exceed 50% (fifty
percent) of the Company’s issued share capital of
ordinary shares. The number of ordinary shares which

General authority placing the unissued shares

may be issued shall be based on the number of ordinary

under the control of the directors

shares in issue, added to those that may be issued in

“RESOLVED THAT the authorised but unissued shares in the

future (arising from the conversion of options/

capital of the Company be and are hereby placed under the

convertibles) at the date of such application, less any

control and authority of the directors of the Company and that

ordinary shares issued, or to be issued in future arising

the directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised

from options/convertible ordinary shares issued during

and empowered to allot, issue and otherwise dispose of such

the current financial year, plus any ordinary shares to be

shares to such person or persons on such terms and

issued pursuant to a rights issue which has been

conditions and at such times as the directors of the Company

announced, is irrevocable and fully underwritten, or an

may from time to time and in their discretion deem fit, subject

acquisition which has had final terms announced;
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•

•

•

this authority be valid until the Company’s next annual
general meeting, provided that it shall not extend beyond
15 (fifteen) months from the date that this authority is
given;
a paid press announcement giving full details, including
the impact on the net asset value and earnings per share,
will be published at the time of any issue representing, on
a cumulative basis within 1 (one) financial year, 5% (five
percent) or more of the number of shares in issue prior to
the issue; and
in determining the price at which an issue of shares may
be made in terms of this authority, the maximum discount
permitted will be 10% (ten percent) of the weighted
average traded price on the JSE of those shares over the
30 (thirty) business days prior to the date that the price of
the issue is determined or agreed by the directors of the
Company.”

In terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, 75% (seventy-five
percent) of the votes cast by shareholders present or
represented by proxy at the annual general meeting must be
cast in favour of ordinary resolution 7 for it to be approved.

•

may be otherwise determined from time to time by the
Board” and by adding after “director of the Company”
the following words:
“who must recuse herself/himself from any decision
making process regarding the award of a share/option
which would benefit her/him”;
•

“To endorse, through a non-binding advisory vote to
ascertain the shareholders’ view, the Company’s remuneration
policy and its implementation.”
A summary of the Company’s remuneration policy is set out
on page 17 of the annual report.

Clause 2.2.2 is amended by deleting the words “or
desirable” and replacing them with “subject to JSE
Listings Requirements”;

•

Clause 3.1 is amended by inserting the words “and are
not beneficiaries of the scheme” after the word “Group”
and by replacing the full stop with a semi-colon;

•

Clause 3.2 is amended by replacing the word “act” in the
second last line with “Act”;

•

Clause 3.5.1 is amended by inserting “(which will be
deemed to be a repurchase of shares and require prior
shareholders’ consent)” after “Participants” and by
adding an “s” to “Listing” in the last line;

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 8
Endorsement of remuneration policy and its
implementation

Clause 1.1.10 is amended by deleting the words “ or as

•

Clause 3.6 is amended by adding the following words at
the end thereof: “, unless their actions are grossly
negligent or unlawful”;

•
•

Clause 3.16 is deleted;
Clause 4.2 is numbered and amended by replacing the
words ”requiring a 75% majority of votes cast in favour
of such resolution by equity shareholders present or

Not less than 50% (fifty percent) plus 1 (one) vote majority of
the votes cast by shareholders present or represented by
proxy at this annual general meeting must be cast in favour
of this resolution for it to be approved.

•

Clause 4.3 is numbered;

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 9

•

Clause 6.2.2 is amended by deleting the words

represented by proxy at the general meeting“ with
“subject to the provisions of clause 15.2”;

“requiring a 75% majority of votes cast in favour of such
Amendments to Brikor Share Incentive Scheme

resolution by equity security holders present or

"RESOLVED THAT, in accordance with the amended Schedule

represented by proxy at the general meeting“ and

14 of the JSE Listings Requirements and the provisions of the

adding the following words at the end thereof after

Brikor Share Incentive Scheme (“the Scheme”), the Scheme is

deleting the full stop: “subject to the provisions of clause

hereby amended as follows:

15.2;”;

•

Clause 1.1.1 is amended by adding the words “or
replaced” after the words “as amended”;

•

Clause 6.2.4.2 is amended by deleting the words ”if
any,”;
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•

Clause 6.2.4.3 is amended by replacing the full stop with

•

a semi-colon;
•

adjustments made in terms of clause 12.1 must be
reported in the annual financial statements of the Trust in

Clause 7.2 is amended by deleting “; provided further

the year during which the adjustment is made.”;

that the Board may, in its discretion, increase the period
for repayment stipulated in this clause 7.2, either gener-

•

15.2.13:

Clause 7.3 is amended by deleting the words “, subject

“the rights of participants who leave the employ of the

to 3.15”;
•

Company,

Clause 7.6 is amended by deleting the sentence :”The

by

termination,

resignation,

the Scheme is concerned;”

time to time; provided that no alteration in the rate shall

•

whether

retirement or death, insofar as their early departure from

Board may in its discretion alter the rate of interest from
have retrospective effect.”;

The following new clause 5.2.12 is inserted, and the
numbering of the existing clause 15.2.12 is amended to

ally or in any particular case”;
•

The following new Clause 12.3 is inserted: “Any

•

Clause 18 is amended by adding the following sentence
at the end thereof: “The Trustees should, in due course,

Clause 7.7 is amended by deleting the words “, in which

develop a policy and criteria in this regard, to ensure that

latter mentioned event the Participant shall be liable for

all participants are treated equally and without bias and

the damages suffered by the Trust in consequence

prejudice.”

thereof”;
•
•

Clause 7.8 is amended by inserting the words “with the
prior approval of shareholders,” after “Scheme Shares,”
in the 8th line;

•

Clause 7.10 is amended by deleting “in their sole and
absolute discretion” four lines from the end of the clause;

•

Clause 7.11 is amended by inserting the words “and any
deficit shall be waived by the Trustees” after “cede same
to the Company,” in the third last line of the clause;

•

Clause 8.3.1 is amended by adding the following
proviso at the end thereof: “provided such vote will not be
taken into account for purposes of determining
categorisations as set out in Section 9 of the JSE’s Listings
Requirements”;

•

•

Clause 19.5 is amended by deleting “and” at the end
thereof;

•

Clause 19.6 is amended by replacing the full stop with a
semi-colon;

•

Clause 19.7 is amended by replacing the full stop with a
semi-colon and adding the word “and” thereafter;

•

Clause 23.2.2 is amended by replacing the reference to
“3.15” with “1.1”.

Reason for and effect
The reason for ordinary resolution 9 is to ensure that the
Brikor Share Incentive Scheme is in compliance with Schedule
14 of the JSE Listings Requirements. The JSE has approved the
proposed amendments.
Not less than 50% (fifty percent) plus 1 (one) vote majority of

Clause 8.5.2 is amended by replacing the word “may”

the votes cast by shareholders present or represented by

with “will”;

proxy at this annual general meeting must be cast in favour

Clause 9.1 is amended by deleting “at the sole discretion

of this resolution for it to be approved.

of the Trustees” at the end thereof;

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 10

•

Clause 9.3 is deleted;

Authority to implement special and ordinary

•

Clause 12.2 is amended by inserting “and any claims

resolutions

that participants may have against the Trust” after the

“RESOLVED THAT any director of the Company be and is

word “Company”;

hereby authorised to do all such things, sign all such
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documents and take all such actions as may be necessary for

that section 63(1) of the 2008 Companies Act, requires that

or incidental to the implementation of above special and

persons wishing to participate in the annual general meeting

ordinary resolutions.”

(Including the aforementioned representative) provide

Not less than 50% (fifty percent) plus 1 (one) vote majority of

satisfactory identification before they may so participate.

the votes cast by shareholders present or represented by

Please note that if you are the owner of dematerialised shares

proxy at this annual general meeting must be cast in favour

(ie have replaced the paper share certificates representing the

of this resolution for it to be approved.

shares with electronic records of ownership under the JSE’s
electronic system, Share Transactions Totally Electronic

To transact such other business as may be

(“Strate”)) held through a CSDP or a broker and are not

required at an annual general meeting.

registered as an “own name dematerialised shareholder”,

ENTITLEMENT TO ATTEND AND VOTE AT THE

then you are not a registered shareholder of the Company,

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING IN PERSON OR BY

but your CSDP or broker (or their nominee) would be.

PROXY

Accordingly, in these circumstances, subject to the mandate

If you hold certificated shares (ie have not dematerialised

between yourself and your CSDP or broker (or their

your shares) or are registered as an own name

nominee), as the case may be:

dematerialised holder (ie have specifically instructed your

•

if you wish to attend the annual general meeting you must

Central Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”) to hold

contact your CSDP or broker (or their nominee), as the

your shares in your own name on the Company’s sub-register)

case may be, and obtain the relevant letter of

then:

representation from them;

•

you may attend and vote at the annual general meeting;

alternatively
•

alternatively
•

if you are unable to attend the annual general meeting

you may appoint a proxy (who need not also be a

but wish to be represented at the meeting, you must

shareholder of the Company) to attend participate in and

contact your CSDP or broker (or their nominee), as the

speak and vote in your place at the annual general

case may be, and furnish them with your voting

meeting by completing the attached form of proxy and

instruction in respect of the annual general meeting

returning it to the registered office of the Company or

and/or request them to appoint a proxy. You should not

the transfer secretaries by no later than 10:00 on

complete the attached form of proxy.

Monday, 24 October 2011, being 48 (forty-eight) hours

The instructions must be provided in accordance with the

prior to the time appointed for the holding of the annual

mandate between yourself and our CSDP or broker, as

general meeting. Please note that your proxy may dele-

the case may be, within the time period required by your

gate his/her authority to act on behalf of another person,

CSDP or broker, as the case may be.

subject to the restrictions set out in the attached form of
proxy. Please also note that the attached form of proxy
must be delivered to the registered office of the Company
or to the transfer secretaries, before your proxy may
exercise any of your rights as a shareholder at the annual general meeting.

CSDPs, brokers or their nominees, as the case may be,
recorded in the Company’s sub-register as holders of
dematerialised shares held on behalf of an investor/
beneficial owner in terms Strate should, when
authorised in terms of their mandate or instructed to do
so by the owner on behalf of whom they hold

Please note that any shareholder of the Company that is a

dematerialised shares in the Company, vote by either

company may authorise any person to act as its

appointing a duly authorised representative to attend

representative at the annual general meeting. Please also note

and vote at the annual general meeting or by completing
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the attached form of proxy in accordance with the
instructions thereon and returning it to the registered
address of the Company or to the transfer secretaries, by
no later than 10:00 on Monday, 24 October 2011
being 48 (forty-eight) hours prior to the time appointed
for the holding of the annual general meeting.
Shareholders of the Company that wish to participate in
the annual general meeting should note that any
shareholder of the Company that is a company may
authorise any person to act as its representative at the
annual general meeting. Please also note that section
63(1) of the Act requires that any person wishing to
participate in the annual general meeting (including the
aforementioned representative) must provide satisfactory
identification before they may so participate.
JSE Limited Listings Requirements
In terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, any shares
currently held by the Brikor Share Incentive Scheme will not
be taken into account in determining the results of voting on
special resolution number 1 and ordinary resolutions number
6 and 7.

By order of the Board

CIS Company Secretaries (Pty) Limited
Per: Richard Austin
Company Secretary
22 August 2011
Registered address
1 Marievale Road, Vorsterskroon, Nigel 1490
PO Box 884, Nigel 1490
Transfer secretaries
Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Limited
Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg 2001
PO Box 61051, Marshalltown 2107
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Form of proxy
BRIK OR

LI MITED

Registration number 1998/013247/06 • Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa • JSE code: BIK • ISIN: ZAE000101945
(“Brikor” or “the Company”)

Only to be completed by certificated and dematerialised shareholders with “own name” registration.
If you are a dematerialised shareholder, other than with “own name” registration, do not use this form. Dematerialised shareholders other than those with
“own name” registration who wish to attend the annual general meeting, must inform their CSDP or broker of their intention to attend and request their
CSDP or broker to issue them with the relevant Letter of Representation to attend the annual general meeting in person and vote, or, if they do not wish to
attend the meeting in person, but wish to be represented thereat, provide their CSDP or broker with their voting instructions in terms of the relevant custody
agreement entered into between them and their CSDP or broker in the manner and cut-off time stipulated therein.
An ordinary shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting to be held at 10:00 on Wednesday, 26 October 2011, at Oppiedam,
Balfour Road R550, Nigel, is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend, speak or vote thereat in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company.
All forms of proxy must be lodged at the company or the Company’s transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited,
Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg 2001 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown 2107) by not later than 48 hours before the time appointed for the
meeting, excluding Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays.
I/We (please print name in full)
of (address)
Telephone work:

Telephone home:

being an ordinary shareholder(s) of the Company holding

ordinary shares in the Company do hereby appoint

1.

or failing him/her

2.

or failing him/her

3. the chairman of the annual general meeting
as my/our proxy to act for me/us at the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Wednesday, 26 October 2011 and at any adjournment
thereof, for the purpose of considering, and, if deemed fit, to vote for or against the resolution with or without modification and/or to abstain from
voting thereon, in respect of ordinary shares in the issued capital of the Company registered in my/our name(s) in accordance with the following
instructions:
Number of votes (one per share)
In favour of

Against

Abstain

Special resolution
1.

Approval of non-executive directors’ fees

2.

Approval of directors’ emoluments

3.

Authority to provide financial assistance to subsidiary companies within Brikor

Ordinary resolutions
1.

Approval of annual financial statements

2.1 Appointment of Ms RJ Magoele as director
2.2 Appointment of Mr R van Rooyen as director
2.3 Appointment of Mr JH Wood as director
2.4 Appointment of Mr NM Anderson as director
3.1 Appointment of Ms RJ Magoele as Chairman of the Audit Committee
3.2 Appointment of Mr R van Rooyen as a member of the Audit Committee
3.3 Appointment of Mr JH Wood as a member of the Audit Committee
3.4 Appointment of Mr NM Anderson as a member of the Audit Committee
4.

Ratifying additional fee payment to the Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee
for the 2011 financial year

5.

Appointment of auditors, KPMG, and appointment of designated audit partner,
Hendrik van Heerden, for the year ending 28 February 2012

6.

General authority placing the unissued shares under the control of the directors

7.

General authority to issue shares for cash

8.

To endorse the Company’s remuneration policy and its implementation

9.

Approval of amendments to Brikor Share Incentive Scheme

10. Authority to implement special and ordinary resolutions
Insert an “X” in the appropriate block. If no indications are given, the proxy will vote as he/she deems fit. Each member entitled to attend and vote at the
meeting may appoint one or more proxies (who need not be a member of the Company) to attend, speak and vote in his/her stead.
Signed at
Signature
Assisted by (where applicable)
Please read the notes on the reverse side hereof.

on

2011
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Notes to the form of proxy

1.

A shareholder may insert the names of a proxy or the names of

7.

two alternative proxies of the member’s choice in the space
provided, with or without deleting “the chairman of the
meeting”, but the shareholder must initial any such deletion. The

joint shareholder(s).

A shareholder is entitled to one vote on a show of hands and,
8.

company’s transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services

inserting the relevant number of votes exercisable by the

Proprietary Limited, Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street,

shareholder in the appropriate box. Failure to comply with this

Johannesburg 2001 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown 2107), to

will be deemed to authorise the proxy to vote or to abstain from

be received not later than 48 hours before the time of the

A vote given in terms of an instrument of proxy shall be valid in
relation to the annual general meeting notwithstanding the
death, insanity or other legal disability of the person granting it,
or the revocation of the proxy, or the transfer of the ordinary
shares in respect of which the proxy is given, unless notice as to
any of the aforementioned matters shall have been received by
the transfer secretaries or by the chairman of the annual
general meeting before the commencement of the annual
general meeting.
If a shareholder does not indicate on this form that his/her
proxy is to vote in favour of or against any resolution or to

appointed meeting, excluding Saturdays, Sundays and public
holidays.
9.

Any alteration or correction made to this form of proxy other
than the deletion of alternatives must be initialled by the
signatory/ies.

10. The completion and lodging of this proxy shall not preclude the
relevant shareholder from attending the meeting and speaking
and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any proxy
appointed in terms hereof.
11. The chairman of the meeting may reject or accept a proxy that
is completed other than in accordance with these instructions,
provided that he is satisfied as to the manner in which a
shareholder wishes to vote.
12. If you have not dematerialised your shares and selected own

abstain from voting, or gives contradictory instructions, or

name registration in the sub-register:

should any further resolution(s) or any amendment(s) which may

You may either attend the annual general meeting in person or

properly be put before the general meeting, be proposed, the

complete and return the form of proxy in accordance with the

proxy shall be entitled to vote as he/she thinks fit.

instructions contained therein to the transfer secretaries.

The authority of a person signing a proxy in a representative

13. If you have dematerialised your shares through a CSDP or

capacity must be attached to the proxy unless that authority has

broker and registered them in a name other than your own

already been recorded with the company’s transfer secretary or
waived by the chairman of the annual general meeting.
6.

Proxies must be lodged at or posted to the company or the

shareholder’s instructions to the proxy must be indicated by

respect of all the shareholder’s votes.

5.

the vote(s) of the senior shareholders (for that purpose

will be accepted to the exclusion of the vote(s) of the other

voting at the annual general meeting as he/she deems fit in

4.

•

register) who tender a vote (whether in person or by proxy)

exclusion of those names following.

3.

any one holder may sign the form of proxy;

names of ordinary shareholders appear in the company’s

not been deleted shall be entitled to act as proxy to the

on a poll, one vote in respect of each ordinary share held. A

•

seniority will be determined by the order in which the

person whose name appears first on the proxy and which has

2.

Where there are joint holders of ordinary shares:

His/her parent or guardian as applicable must assist a minor or

name and wish to vote at the annual general meeting:
If you have already dematerialised your shares you must advise
your CSDP or broker of your voting instructions on the proposed
resolutions. However, should you wish to attend the annual

any other person under legal incapacity, unless the relevant

general meeting in person, you will need to request your CSDP

documents establishing capacity are produced or have been

or broker to provide you with the necessary authority in terms of

registered with the transfer secretaries.

the custody agreement entered into with the CSDP or broker.
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